# Managing the Coordination of EU Executive Agencies:

# HOW DO MULTIPLE PRINCIPALS JOINTLY COORDINATE THE STEERING OF THE EU EXECUTIVE AGENCIES?

# **MASTER THESIS**

# Christina Hollnack

429378

MSc International Public Management and Policy

Coach: Prof. Dr. Steven Van De Walle

Co-reader: Dr. Stéphane Moyson



 $27^{th}$  of July 2016

21.878 words

ERASMUS UNIVERSITY ROTTERDAM

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	4
Acknowledgements	5
List of Abbreviations	6
Chapter One: Setting the Scene	8
1.1. Introduction	8
1.2. Purpose of the Study	10
1.3. Research Aim	11
1.4. Scientific Relevance	11
1.5. Societal Relevance	12
1.6. Thesis Overview	13
Chapter Two: Discussing the Theoretical Framework	13
2.1. Principal-Agent Model	14
2.2. Principals	16
2.3. Stewardship Theory	18
2.4. Multiple-Principal Model	19
2.5. Capture Theory	20
2.6. Summary	21
Chapter Three: A Literature Review on Prior Agency Research	21
3.1. The EU Executive Agencies	22
3.2. Research on the Steering of the EU Agencies	24
Chapter Four: Methodology	25
4.1 Research Design	26
4.2. Selecting the Cases: the EACEA and the REA	
4.3. Data Selection	
4.4 Reliability and Validity	30

Chapter Five: Case Description	30
5.1. The EACEA	30
5.2. The REA	31
Chapter Six: Data Analysis	32
6.1. Coordination Features Common to Both the EAs	
6.1.2 Background	33
6.1.3. Council Regulation (EC) No 58/2003	33
6.1.3.1. The Steering Committee	35
6.1.3.2. Role and Function of the Director	37
6.1.4. Commission Regulation (EC) No 651/2008	39
6.1.5. Commission Decision (2014) 9109	40
6.2. Managing the Coordination of the EACEA	41
6.2.1. The EACEA and the Parent DGs	41
6.2.2. The Four Parents of the EACEA	43
6.2.3. Memorandum of Understanding between the EACEA and the Parent DG	s44
6.2.4. Steering Committee Compositions of the EACEA from 2011 - 2015	45
6.3. Managing the Coordination of the REA	46
6.3.1. The REA and the Parent DGs	47
6.3.2. The CSC: Centralizing Services for the REA	48
6.3.3. The Six Parents of the REA	49
6.3.4. Memorandum of Understanding between the REA and the Parent DGs	50
6.3.5. Steering Committee Compositions of the REA from 2008 - 2015	51
6.4. Summary	52
Chapter Seven: Conclusions	53
7.1. Discussion of the Research Findings	53
7.2. Theoretical Implications	56
7.3. Practical Implications	56
7.4. Research Limitations	57
7.4. Recommendations for Future Research	58

References	59
Appendix A: List of Interviewed Persons (May – June 2016)	<b>7</b> 4
Appendix B: List of Names of People and Organizations That Forwarded Material	75
Appendix C: Sample Questions In-depth Interview Agency	77
Appendix D: Sample Questions In-depth Interview DGs	79
Appendix E: Sample Questions In-depth Interview Steering Committee	81
Appendix F. Questionnaire Form for the Parent DGs of the EACEA	83
Appendix G. Questionnaire Form for the Parent DGs of the REA	84

#### **Abstract**

The present study addresses the coordination of steering of the EU executive agencies by multiple principals. Patterns of steering relationships are firmly grounded in the principal-agent theory. This study goes beyond the simple principal-agent relation and extends with the multiple-principal model. In reality, agents often find themselves surrounded by a multitude of steering actors. The study answers the question of how multiple Directorate-Generals jointly coordinate the steering of the executive agencies by using the example of the Education Audiovisual Culture Executive Agency and the Research Executive Agency. Both chosen case studies have a multitude of supervising steering actors. A qualitative, explorative in-depth study is applied to assess the steering relation of the EU executive agencies on the basis of the multiple-principal model. Methodologically, the study relies on document analysis and interviews. The findings show that there are different levels of coordination. On the institutional level, parent Directorate-Generals govern the agency through membership in a Steering Committee. This Committee is composed of parent Directorate-Generals and steers the agency through strategic management decisions. On the operational level, coordination is more a management matter and differences start to emerge.

# Acknowledgements

I want to thank my university colleagues for granting me the support and time to write this study. I gratefully acknowledge the valuable comments made by Professor Steven Van de Walle on the initial draft of this work. He made the realization of this study possible. I also thank my second reader Dr. Stéphane Moyson for his feedback and recommendations for my study. Moreover, I want to thank my partner N. Kumar, MD, Ph.D. and my family for their encouragement for writing this study. Last but certainly not least, I want to express my sincere gratitude to all the anonymous interviewees who contributed to my research.

#### List of Abbreviations

A Agent

AAR Annual Activity Report

AWP Annual Work Programme

CoA Court of Auditors

CSC Common Support Center

DG Directorate General

DG AGRI DG Agriculture and Rural Development

DG BUDG DG Budget

DG CNECT DG Communications Networks, Content and Technology

DG EAC DG Education and Culture

DG GROW DG Internal Market, Industry, Entrepreneurship and SMEs

DG HOME DG Migration and Home Affairs

DG RTD DG Research and Innovation

DG ECHO DG Humanitarian Aid and Civil Protection

EACEA Education Audiovisual Culture Executive Agency

EASME Executive Agency for Small and Medium-seized Enterprises

EA Executive Agencies

EC European Commission

EU European Union

ERCEA European Research Council Executive Agency

EWS Early Warning System

FP7 Framework Programme 7

H2020 Horizon 2020

IT Information Technology

M-P Multiple - Principal

MS Member States

MoU Memorandum of Understanding

NPM New Public Management

OLAF European Anti-Fraud Office

P-A Principal - Agent

P Principal

RA Regulatory Agencies

REA Research Executive Agency

StB Steering Board

StC Steering Committee

# Chapter One: Setting the Scene

Chapter One is divided into five sub-sections. It aims to highlight the significance of the topic and to yield a solid understanding of the subject. The present introduction provides a background of the subject followed by the research purpose and aim of this study. After that, its scientific and societal relevance will be discussed ensued by an outline of the structure of this study.

#### 1.1. Introduction

Administrative decentralization to government agencies has received much attention in recent years (Elston, 2014; Verhoest et al., 2011; Pollitt et al. 2004; Smullen, 2006). Increasingly due to the radical reform of the nature of the public sector towards the end of the 1980s which appears to offer more adaptability and improved performance (OECD, 2002; Harrison, 1993). This phenomenon is commonly framed as the global new public management (NPM) revolution (Hood, 1991). It led to political-administrative changes and devolved organizational landscapes (Laegreid and Verhoest, 2010). The rise of NPM is linked with regulatory trends such as the development of automation in the distribution of public services (Hood, 1991). An important element is the change in the functioning and structuring of the public sector from a centralized to a "decentralized structurally devolved and autonomizing public sector" (Verhoest et al., 2010, p.3).

Two major principles are followed: (1) to "let managers manage by deregulating the use of operating resources"; and (2) to "make managers manage by specifying what is expected of them and measuring their performance against these expectations" (OECD, 2002, p.41). Thus argued, the introduced specialization and autonomy leads to more efficient and effective outcomes for citizens concerning the provision of public services (Verhoest et al., 2010). The essential new element is the division "between responsibility for provision and the provision itself" (Harrison, 1993, p.2). However, there is lots of criticism directed at the NPM reforms. Some scholars argue that NPM reforms did not bring the desired improvements or did not make a difference at all (Overman and Van Thiel, 2015; Pollitt, 2002; Laegreid and Verhoest, 2010; Talbot, 2004; Groenleer et al., 2010).

Public bodies became a "popular vehicle for executing a wide range of functions in a large number of countries" (Pollitt et al., 2007, p.272). They have specific functions, separate provisions and production interests (Harrison, 1993). In particular, the creation of agencies has been one of the most international widespread trends in public management (Pollitt, 2006). Various activities of agencies are steered and coordinated by steering actors referred to as principals in this study (Hood, 1991). The purpose of this is to assure efficient performance and the satisfactory execution of public services.

Based on prevailing academic stand the "NPM doctrine is firmly grounded in the principal-agent theory" (Roness et al., 2007, p.13).

Bertelli (2012) describes a principal as "someone (or some organization believed to have a unified preference structure) who wants something to be done but for one reason or another cannot do it himself" (p.21). In agency relationships, principals delegate specific tasks for execution to another actor. This relationship can be described by the metaphor of a physician and a patient. The patient needs the expertise of the physician as the patient does not have sufficient knowledge to make a diagnosis regarding the illness. Since the physician has a lot of patients, he may conceivably put fewer efforts in the diagnosis to move on to consult other paying patients. As a result, the patient and physician may have a conflict of interest regarding the transaction (Bertelli, 2012).

Ross (1973) states that "the relationship of agency is one of the oldest and commonest codified modes of social interaction. We will say that an agency relationship has risen between two (or more) parties when one, designated as the agent, acts for, on behalf of, or as representative for the other, designated the principal, in a particular domain of decision problems" (p.134). Jensen and Meckling (1976) define the principal-agent (P-A) relation as "a contract under which one or more persons (the principal(s)) engage another person (the agent) to perform some service on their behalf which involves delegating some decision-making authority to the agent" (p. 308). In this respect, principals aim to maximize control over agents through specification of tasks, policing of the agents' behaviour, monitoring and rewarding (Fayezi et al., 2012).

This results in a complex interplay between autonomized agents and control asserting principals. For this reason, clear missions, objectives, organisational strategies and targets need to be determined in a contract that governs the relation between the principal and agent (Hyndman and Eden, 2000). However, despite the relevance of the P-A approach, general public management literature criticizes the focus on one principal (Moe, 1987, Worsham, 2003). In reality, agency relationships are more dynamic and complex than the P-A model assumes. Numerous scholars indicate that a multiplicity of steering actors has to be considered (Worsham, 2003; Waterman and Wood, 1991; Waterman and Meier, 1998; Meier and Bohte, 2000; Dehousse, 2008; Jensen and Meckling, 1976).

Situations with a multitude of principals frequently occur in political processes and are of growing interest (Helpman et al., 1997). Indeed, research in recent years shows that multiple principals (M-Ps) can be involved in the control of agencies (Verhoest et al., 2011). This situation can be exemplified by

using an example. Agencies can be controlled by a number of parent ministries or by "different units within the same ministry" that "are involved in different kinds of steering" (Verhoest et al. 2011, p.426). Hence, agents may be steered into various policy directions by M-Ps that have diverging preferences regarding the behaviour of the agent. In other words, the steering signals of principals are not aligned when they reach the agency. In cases where M-Ps are active, conflicts of interest can occur among principals. Furthermore, "problems are reported with respect to bad coordination between steering signals or double controls" (Verhoest et al. 2011, p.426).

Coordination is essential because it aims "to create greater coherence in policy and to reduce redundancy, lacunae, and contradictions within and between policies" (Peters, 1998, p.5). In general, the issue of coordination is concerned with the assurance of the stated mission, objectives, and targets (Hyndman and Eden, 2000). Thus, coordination is of particular importance for agents with a larger number of principals. There can be, however, potential pitfalls regarding the coordination by M-Ps. Kraakman et al. (2009) refer to coordination costs between principals that affect the performance of the agent. These can be "difficulties of coordinating between principals" that "will lead them to delegate more of their decision-making to the agents" (p.36). Moreover, in cases where principals have difficulties to "coordinate on a single set of goals for the agent, the more obviously difficult it is to ensure that the agent does the 'right' thing" (p.37).

Principals can make use of supervisory mechanisms to control the action of the agent. Planning and oversight systems are indispensable for the effective coordination of steering by M-Ps and hence, the adherence of the desired objectives (Hyndman and Eden, 2000). Nevertheless, there remains a need for more comprehensive studies on the coordination of steering of agents by M-Ps. This study, therefore, focuses exclusively on the role of principals within an EU setting. It aims to answer the question of how M-Ps jointly coordinate the steering of agents and how they coordinate with each other. This study directs its attention to the coordination of steering of the neglected EU executive agencies (EAs). EAs are steered by a multitude of Directorate-Generals (DGs) that are framed as principals in this study based on the M-P model (Europa, 2016; Europa², 2016). The present study is therefore conducted on the study of two different agencies to analyse how the joint coordination of steering happens and how M-Ps coordinate with each other.

# 1.2. Purpose of the Study

Most scholars have devoted their attention to the autonomy levels, accountability, evolution, behaviour, political control and legitimacy of the independent regulatory agencies (RAs) (Busuioc,

2009; Christensen and Laegreid, 2007; Maggetti, 2010; Curtin et al., 2011; Atanassov, 2015; Groenleer, 2009; Verschuere, 2007). Thereby, a considerable body of scientific literature has concentrated on one principal as steering actor concerning EU RAs, EU institutions or member states (MS) often applying the P-A model (Groenleer, 2009). Little research has focussed on the exclusive role of principals and particularly numerous principals (Miller, 2005; Elgie, 2002). The focus and nature of this study lay on its counterpart: M-Ps and the general neglected EU EAs. Altogether, this study serves three purposes. The prime reason why this study is of high relevance is that it investigates M-Ps and the ignored EU EAs. Its first purpose is to examine the steering relation between M-Ps and agents. The conceptual M-P approach contributes to an understanding of the steering relationship. A second objective is to focus exclusively on the role of principals and to add findings to the M-P research. A third purpose is to report comparative research results and connect those to the relevant academic literature. The study aims to position its findings in relation to the associated theory and current state of agency research.

#### 1.3. Research Aim

The aim of this study is to investigate the following research question:

1. How do multiple principals jointly coordinate the steering of the EU executive agencies?

This study seeks to examine how M-Ps together coordinate the steering of the EU agencies. It deals with agency autonomy but focuses exclusively on principals. The M-P model is applied to contextualize agents with a multiplicity of principals. In this study, multiple DGs are framed as principals that steer the EAs due to their supervisory and control function. Principals are in the need to coordinate when they steer agencies to reach their objective. The case studies of the Education Audiovisual Culture Executive Agency (EACEA) and Research Executive Agency (REA) serve as examples to draw conclusions regarding the joint coordination of steering by M-Ps and their coordination among each other.

#### 1.4. Scientific Relevance

The scientific significance of this study is that it departs from the traditional idea of contextualizing one principal and agent but instead takes into consideration numerous steering actors. This study expands on existing work and contributes in at least three important ways. First, rather than focusing on the common RA research this study focuses on EU EAs and hence, broadens the scope of agencies. This type of body has only a temporary mandate and is not considered to be as radical autonomous as it is the case for the RAs. This provides more nuanced insights regarding the coordination of

steering by M-Ps (Groenleer, 2009; Ritleng, 2016). Second, systematic research can shed new insights on the management relation between M-Ps and the EU agencies. It is necessary to study thoroughly the coordination of steering by M-Ps to be able to develop new steering instruments. Those are needed to increase efficiency in the public sector and to reach more satisfactory public outcomes. Third, this study fills the gap in the literature explaining how M-Ps coordinate the steering of the EU EAs and thus, contributes to more transparency in the field. It furthermore widens the range of steering actors. For such a contribution, both in-depth case studies are needed to yield valuable data that is otherwise inaccessible (Van Evera, 1997).

#### 1.5. Societal Relevance

Societal relevance often is associated with the question of whether people care. Gschwend and Schimmelfennig (2007) define that "socially relevant research furthers the understanding of social and political phenomena which affect people and make a difference with regard to explicitly specified evaluative standards" (p.27). Governments provide numerous services to citizens, aim to secure public interests, the functioning of the government and society. Studying the relation between M-Ps and one agent is important considering societal dynamics, multi-actor dynamics, and collaboration in political processes. In reality there is a complex interplay between numerous conceivable steering actors. These potentially impose multiple realities leading to preference conflicts, the ineffective steering of the agent and thus, the insufficient execution of public services (Worsham, 2003; Gailmard, 2009; Meier and Bohte, 2000). As agencies are public bodies they are supposed to act in the best interest of the public. Flawed P-A relations endanger the efficiency of public services and may cause a lack of democracy.

Since the foundation of the EU, the MS have transferred some of their competences to the EU level and there is the supremacy of EU law (Eurofund, 2011). It is particularly important to focus on the Commission since the former proposes laws, manages and implements EU policies that primarily concern all EU citizens (European Commission<sup>11</sup>, 2016). The EAs are key actors since they belong to the group of bodies acting on demand of the Commission and further, implement parts of the EUs policy program all over the MS (Brown, 2016; Zonneveld 2015; Costa and Brack, 2014). For the reason that the Commission deploys several steering actors for managing the coordination of the EU EAs, trying to answer how M-Ps jointly coordinate the steering of EAs is of high significance. Malfunctioning P-A relations may cause the inefficient functioning of the governmental system affecting the public as a whole. Flawed P-A relations between the EAs and DGs can potentially cause

policy contradictions, bureaucratic drift and the unsatisfactory execution of public services (Gailmard, 2009). The EU and national governments need to acknowledge the complexity and multiplicity of steering actors to further improve steering instruments and thus, the provision of public services. One element of societal relevance is practical advice that follows in the final chapter (Schimmelfennig and Gschwend, 2007).

#### 1.6. Thesis Overview

This study is divided into seven chapters, including this first chapter. Chapter Two provides a discussion of the theoretical framework of the study. It encompasses a combination of four theoretical models that serve as a basis to understand the steering relation between principals and agents. General conclusion is that the M-P model is the adequate approach to investigate the governing relationship. The chapter ends with a summary. Chapter Three comprises a literature review of prior agency research. The study theme is placed into context, and it analytically examines research on the EU EAs and the steering of the EU agencies in general. Thereby, it identifies some notable gaps in the current body of academic literature. Chapter Four explicates the research methods. It presents the research design and continues with the motivation for the case study selection. After that, it outlines the data collection, reliability, and validity of this study. Chapter Five introduces the chosen case studies and sets out case descriptions. Chapter Six analyzes the coordination of steering of the EU EAs by M-Ps by the M-P approach. The analysis starts with what is common to both agencies. It continues with the examination of coordination features that are inherent to each agency and concludes with a summary. The concluding chapter Eight comes back to the initial research question and summarizes the research findings. It draws theoretical, practical implications and continues with the research limitations followed by recommendations for future studies.

#### Chapter Two: Discussing the Theoretical Framework

Chapter Two presents the theoretical framework of the study and is divided into six sub-sections. It introduces four theoretical models that serve as a means to understand the variety of relations between principals and agents. First, it presents the P-A model followed by second, a separate section with an exclusive focus on principals. Third, the study proceeds with the stewardship theory. Fourth, the M-P model is examined to uncover the steering relation between numerous principals and the agent. Fifth, capture theory is elucidated. The chapter finishes with a summary.

# 2.1. Principal-Agent Model

The modern state has two fundamental objectives: legitimacy and efficiency. To reach these goals governments have set up many P-A relations. For instance, governments, institutes or organizations operate various activities to provide public services to citizens. Public organisations can therefore "be seen as a nexus of principal-agent relationships" (Lane, 2005, p.27). I want, first, to introduce the reader to the essential features of the P-A theory and give an overview of the central theme.

Agency theory is "frequently referred to as the principal-agent model" that is used to "explain the behaviours of the principal and agent" (Slyke, 2006, p. 162). The conceptualization of P-A models has had a history in various literature. Some disciplines such as law, economics, accounting and finance set the basis for the development of new theoretical approaches. Early origins of the theory refer to the scholars Ross and Mitnick (Mitnick, 1973; Ross, 1973). Waterman and Meier (1998) asseverate Mitnick as a key figure as he introduced P-A models in political science and discovered imperfect agency relationships. The results of Mitnick's study examine that agency behaviour does not necessarily occur as it is preferred by the principal and that principals' act under imperfect conditions (Mitnick, 1973).

P-A relationships have been extensively studied by various scholars. They have been applied to a range of contractual relations and explain a variety of organizational phenomena (Mitnick, 1973; Ross, 1973; Waterman and Wood, 1991; Waterman and Meier, 1998; Pratt and Zeckhauser, 1985; Slyke, 2006). The P-A theory deals with a particular social relationship in which two actors are involved. These actors are the principal 'P' and the agent 'A'. Both actors are interdependent from each other and driven by their preferences. This relationship is one of delegation in which both players exchange resources. While the principal is the actor who wants something to be done but for some reason is not capable of doing it by himself, the agent is the actor to get the job done. In other words, principals seek for an agent to extend themselves and to whom they can delegate various tasks for execution (Waterman and Meier, 1998).

Principals predispose resources such as money and time to find an agent who is willing to execute the delegated tasks from the principal. These hire agents for their technical expertise, and the agents' organization is built "around the goal shared with the principal" (Waterman and Meier, 1998, p.191). Principals seek to accomplish objectives by undertaking activities that aim to direct the agent towards

the fulfilment of their desired objectives (Braun and Guston, 2003). Both actors conduct a contractual agreement in which they formally determine the terms of the contract, rules, and goals. In cases where agents pursue their goals instead of the principals' sanctions follow. P-A relations are therefore governed by a contract specifying what the agent should do and what the principal must do in return (Lane, 2005).

In essence, the P-A model recognizes two assumptions. First, it presumes the existence of conflicting goals between the principal and agent (Waterman and Meier, 1998). The principals' behaviour is characterized as "wealth-maximising" whereas the agents' conduct is "utility-maximising" (Slyke, 2006, p.162). Second, agents are believed to have more access to information. This results in an information asymmetry which agents potentially use for their self-interest (Waterman and Meier, 1998). The main consequence is moral mazzard problems (Slyke, 2006). Ambiguity may surround the efforts of the principal in the form of adverse selection and moral hazard. For this reason, P-A relations are "fraught with problems of cheating, limited information, and bounded rationality in general" (Watermann and Meier, 1998, p.176).

Adverse selection and moral hazard are both monitoring problems. The former equates to the hidden information, and moral hazard refers to the hidden action. Adverse selection relates to principals competing for the services of agents (Riley, 1985). Principals can observe the behavior of an agent, yet they lack the capability to "judge the optimality of the behavior" (Bowie and Freeman, 1992, p.79). In other words, they do not know the quality of the agent (Riley, 1985). Agents are more knowledgeable about organizational needs and know how well they are capable of fulfilling the task of the principal. Moral hazard refers to when principals are not able to observe the behaviour of the agent. Therefore, principals do not know how much effort the agent puts in achieving the desired objectives (Lane, 2005). In reality, contractual agreements between principals' and agents thus remain incomplete (Waterman and Meier, 1998).

Conflicts among principals and information asymmetry make the effective coordination of steering complicated. Both, hidden action and hidden knowledge comprise a considerable difficulty for the steering actors. Nevertheless, there are certain limits to this information asymmetry in cases where the focus lies on policy expertise as principals may obtain information off-setting. Waterman and Meier (1998) point out that "agents have never all of the information and principals never lack all of the

information" (p.199). The process of interaction between principal and agent is a dynamic one, involving multiple moves and frequent interplay (Lane, 2005). In this respect, both actors stand in continuous interrelation similar to control dyadic relationships (Waterman and Meier, 1998).

Despite the obvious relevance of this model to understand the steering relation and "key problems in the public sector" there is growing criticism (Lane, 2005, p.51). Critics argue that the P-A model is too one-sided (Perrow, 1986). It ignores "worker loyalty, pride and identification with the organization's mission and goals" (Slyke, 2006, p.163). Moreover, it "an inappropriate framework for contractual services that are not easily measured and observed" (ibid.). Dehousse (2008) amplifies that the P-A model would not be able to understand the multiplicity of controls to which European agencies are subjected. He further elaborates that it "is analytically inadequate as it does not take into consideration some of the peculiarities of the EU setting" (p.790) as "politics of agency creation" have largely been shaped by "the multiplicity of principals" (p. 796). Furthermore, the P-A model is "hampered by" its "assumption of a single principal" (Worsham, 2003, p.2). Hence, a closer look reveals that the P-A model is too limited to analyze the steering relation between M-Ps and agents (Poth and Selck, 2009). Also, a broader range of contexts should be taken into consideration (Eisenhardt, 1989).

#### 2.2. Principals

Principals are considered to be the primary holders of executive power and agents the suppliers (Hix and Hoyland, 2005). For effective public governance, principals need to instruct, fund and monitor agents. Governments rely on agents to execute policies and implement programmes (Lane, 2005). Peters (2001) stresses that it is the role of principals and "political institutions to control policy and its implementation" (p.237). Generally speaking, principals do not intervene unless some major or outstanding issue occurs (Verhoest et al., 2010). It is the function of the principals to coordinate the steering of agents to reach their desired objectives. In this respect, they may have to address various problems such as individual goal group incongruence or agents with persistent self-interests (Waterman and Meier, 1998).

To reach the principals' objective, the former can make use of control instruments. The control function of principals' is vital to coordinate the steering of the agent. Otherwise, governance problems may occur under hidden action and hidden knowledge (Lane, 2005). Control is a means to steer the agent. To align "the actions of the agent with the goals of the principal, a mix of incentives, sanctions,

information systems (such as reporting procedures), and monitoring mechanisms are employed" (Slyke, 2006, p.162). Such instruments intend to direct the agent's interest equally to that of the principal (Bowie and Freeman, 1992). Especially the submission of regular formal reports serve as an accountability measure. The assertion of control by principals can take place in various forms. For instance, in the shape of informal contacts; the establishment of common objectives and norms by both principal and agent; or the creation of shared values and persuasion (Verhoest et al., 2010).

As a response to adverse selection, principals screen agents as a means to counteract hidden information. Principals are aware that they need to screen agents before they dispose of resources and delegate tasks. Interestingly, there is a rare chance that principals may have an information advantage in situations such as a military conflict in which intelligence operatives share the same goal with the principal. In reaction to moral hazard, principals can make use of active monitoring and supervisory mechanisms. These intend to keep agents in line and to reach most optimal outcomes (Waterman and Meier, 1998). Different forms of control are necessary since the principal has no guarantee that the agent will act in his or her best interest (Pavan and Calzolari, 2008). However, the monitoring of compliance is difficult and costly as the bureaucratic process is very complex and dynamic (Waterman and Meier, 1998). In cases where principals cannot afford control or monitor mechanisms, they offer a lower financial remuneration that possibly results in low efforts by the agent (Lane, 2005).

Van Thiel (2015) refers to the metaphor of 'the empty nest syndrome' to describe tensions between principals and agents. The metaphor depicts children who are leaving their parents' home and become independent to describe the process of agencification. Principals are referred to as parents in the steering relation and agents as children. Van Thiel further theorizes that principals maintain contact with agents but respect their autonomy. There may be no active sense of steering from sides of the principal as the children detach and become emancipated (Van Thiel, 2015). It is reasonable to suppose that principals potentially do not coordinate and thus, do not steer the agent (Van Thiel, 2015; Van Thiel and James 2011). Notwithstanding, Peters (2001) notes that despite the relative independence of agents, principals regularly keep continually interfering with agents following elections or new policy program.

Principals often "try to influence the selection of the first officials" to avoid that an organization drifts from the ideas of his or her principal (Groenleer, 2009, p.51). Therefore, in the initial phase of

contracting, principals first make arrangements with the CEO of an organization and after that find an agreement with the responding team of agents (Lane, 2005). Principals aim to resolve tensions among organizational goals and incentives of various groups that devise the organizational culture. In the end, principals must have the belief that the agent can provide decent solutions and fulfil the desired objectives before they decide for a particular agent. Since the establishment of an agency depends on the support from the principal, they may face agents who try to be distinctive, adopt towards their political parents and balance demands of the principal (Groenleer, 2009).

#### 2.3. Stewardship Theory

Stewardship theory was developed in order to explain situations in which the interests of both principal and agent are aligned. The term of stewardship refers to various forms of organizational behavior. This theory is framed as "the organizational behavior counterweight to rational action theories of management" and thus, agency theory and the P-A model (Van Slyke, 2006, p.159). In contrast to agency theory, stewardship theory proceeds with different assumptions regarding the relation between the principal and agent. It mostly emphasizes goal convergence instead of individual interests and hence, fortifies goal alignment (Van Slyke, 2006). Stewardship theory "differs from traditional agency theory in that it questions the assumption that a principal-agent relationship will always be characterized by agency conflicts" (Cears et al., 2006, p.28). Although stewardship theory was developed as an alternative to agency theory, the study of Caers et al. (2006) suggest viewing the former "more as a limiting case of agency theory than as an opposing framework" (p.42).

Cooperation and trustworthy relations between the principal and steward follow from two assumptions. First, agents are assumed to adopt a pro-organizational behavior. Hence, the stewards' behavior will not depart from the interests of the principal. This belief originates from the presumption that agents expect more utility from a pro-organizational behavior. It furthermore leads to the creation of governmental structures in which principals are more likely to trust agents (Davis et al., 1997). Second, it presupposes that the goals of both principal and agent are adjusted and hence, both follow collective goals (Sundaramurthy and Lewis, 2003). As a result, "the agent makes decisions he/she perceives to be in the best interests of his/her principals, and views the successes of the organization or contract as accomplishment and incentive for achieving goal alignment" (Slyke, 2006, p.165). The relation between both the principal and the steward is thus, shaped by the nature of their

trust disposition. A shortcoming of the stewardship theory is that it remains largely untested does not account for the existence of M-Ps (Van Slyke, 2006).

# 2.4. Multiple-Principal Model

Considering the existence of multiple steering actors in this study, I will apply the M-P model as it appears to have more explanatory power. A vast amount of scholars examine that a multiplicity of steering actors has to be considered (Worsham, 2003; Waterman and Wood, 1991; Waterman and Meier, 1998; Meier and Bohte, 2000; Dehousse, 2008). In fact, agents can find themselves surrounded by multiple steering actors and institutions that compete for the role of the principal (Waterman and Meier, 1998).

The M-P model ensures to capture the "dynamic interaction between multiple principals and a set of bureaucratic agents" (Waterman and Meier, 1998, p.178). Such a measure is required because "most studies now recognize that bureaucratic actions are influenced by multiple macro-level institutions that often compete with one another for the role of principal" (Worsham, 2003, p.2). In reality, the P-A problem "is far more complex than it is normally portrayed in the empirical political science literature" (Meier and Bohte, 2000, p.24). Meier and Bohte recommend for future research to broaden the scope of involved actors and to take into account a variety of different principals and agencies.

With respect to the M-P model, numerous principals aim to assert control and compete over the influence of the agent. Each principal sends his or her steering signals to the agent with the intention to affect the behavior of the agent according to his or her desire (Groenleer, 2009). Principals can use variety of signals to transfer their demands to the agent. The accumulation of multiple diverging steering signals may cause 'crosspressures' for the agent (Gailmard, 2009). These often find themselves encountered with conflicting demands. For this reason, agents may be channeled into different directions and are conceivably not able to satisfy the needs of each principal equally (Groenleer, 2009).

Admitting that M-Ps can have common interests regarding the action of the agent, they more often have conflicting preferences concerning the action of the agent. The interplay of M-Ps may consequently cause complex interest and preference conflicts. A potential consequence is that the coordination of steering of agents by several principals is ineffective (Gailmard, 2009). Waterman and

Meier (1998) state accordingly that the multiplicity of principals can have significant implications for the relation between the principal and agent (Waterman and Meier, 1998).

Each principal aims to minimize moral hazard and adverse selection (Groenleer, 2009). In contrast to the P-A model, there is a lower risk of information asymmetry and hidden action concerning the M-P model. It is recognized that each of the numerous principals can monitor the action of the agent. Oversight by one principal reveals information for all the other involved principals simultaneously. Notwithstanding, the level of supervision by principals can descent correlating to the joint interest of the principals. It is widely accepted that each principal may have diverging tasks, ideas and possibly contradicting demands. Control mechanism asserted by numerous principals can, therefore, be less efficient in coordinating the steering of the agent (Gailmard, 2009). Given this background, it seems self-explanatory that agents have an incentive to search for principals that share similar policy goals. Such a purposively and self-interested favoring of certain principals is linked to strategic playoffs against and among principals (Waterman and Meier, 1998).

Interestingly, on EU level there is the absence of a clearly defined principal (Dehousse, 2008). It seems that the "European institutional architecture has been carefully designed to avoid any concentration of power" (Dehousse, 2008, p.790). Presumably, a multiplicity of steering actors was purposefully designed to be part of the EU landscape. Numerous EU institutions reflect the dispersion of power holders and thus, principals (Groenleer, 2009).

# 2.5. Capture Theory

Agencies were designed as insulated bodies to protect the interest of political groups and the general public (Barkow, 2010). Capture theory refers to the problems that arise when an agency "acts in the interests of the industry it is charged with regulating, rather than in the public interest" (Potter et al., 2014, p.638). Hence, a classic example of agency capture occurs in cases where the agency is "captured" by the industry it is supposed to regulate. This results in a "policy bias in favour of" the interests of the industry (Barkow, 2010, p.22). Such a bias is operating due to a number of reasons. Fist, regulated industries are well-financed and organized. Therefore, they can carefully supervise the agent. Second, interest groups usually characterized by a strong lobby and can thus impact the agent. Third, interest group sectors offer promising careers in the long-run and have information advantages in their field (Barkow, 2010).

The general public administration literature shows that the absence of principals is typical (Moss and Carpenter, 2014; Damro, 2009; Posner, 1974; Barkow, 2010). In the case of agency capture, it is prominent that there neither is a principal, coordination nor active steering. What is striking is that capture theory is more of "a hypothesis that lacks any theoretical foundations" (Posner, 1974, p.342). Carpenter and Moss (2014) illustrate that the phenomenon of agency capture is not well explored and lacks a standard definition of what capture is. Results of the research highlight that it has to be differentiated between different modes of capture such as statutory, strong or weak capture. The scientific literature does neither explicitly distinguish between various types of capture nor agencies but instead refers mainly to capture regarding the RAs. In contrast to the RAs, the EAs have no political and policy-making power (Timmermann and Andoura, 2008; European Commission, 2002; Eur-Lex, 2016). In this regard, the nature of capture of the EAs might be a different one that should be further explored by future research.

# 2.6. Summary

To understand the steering relation between principals and agents, I examined a combination of four theoretical lenses and a separate section with an exclusive focus on principals. The primary purpose was to identify a model that would suit to explain the coordination of steering of agents by a multiplicity of principals. It is evident that the P-A model is of analytical relevance to study steering relations. However, it is limited by its assumption of a single principal. Stewardship and capture theory both remain largely untested and do not explicitly conceptualize a multiplicity of principals. Given the discussion earlier, I, therefore, consider the M-P model to have the most explanatory power to answer the research question. Thus, it will be mainly used for the data analysis.

# Chapter Three: A Literature Review on Prior Agency Research

The third chapter presents a literature review on prior agency research and is divided into two subsections. It begins with a careful review on the literature on the EU EAs followed by general research of the steering of the EU agencies. The literature review demonstrates the relevant literature covered by academia and contextualizes it with this study.

# 3.1. The EU Executive Agencies

The EU EAs are considered to be one of the most remarkable institutional innovations in recent history on the EU level. This type of agency became established only after 2003 (Groenleer, 2009; Costa and Brack, 2014, Eur-Lex, 2016). For this reason, the study of the EU EAs is a rather nascent field within the wider academic literature on the EU agencies. Groenleer (2009) defines the EU EAs as "independent organizations within the Commission infrastructure, independent intergovernmental organizations at the EU level, or independent bodies established in the treaties" (Groenleer, 2009, p.90). The EU EAs are autonomous legal entities in their own right. They are further Community bodies with a public service role financed by the Commission (Zbíral, 2009; Brown 2016). Each EU EA is set up for a limited period and has a specific mandate (Costa and Brack, 2014; Zbíral, 2009). Another important element is that these bodies fulfill specific functions such as administrative, technical, coordination or generally management tasks that are delegated to them by the EU (Scholten, 2014; Groenleer, 2009; Costa and Brack, 2014; Brown, 2016)

The current body of literature determines the EAs as a particular type of agency that is set up to serve the EC. Academic literature in the field of public administration recognizes that these agencies have to execute tasks that are assigned to them by the Commission (Brown, 2016; Zonneveld 2015; Costa and Brack, 2014). This type of body is Brussels-based and close located to the Commission and its working departments (Nugent, 2010; Lelieveldt and Princen, 2015). It is known from existing research that the EU EAs are therefore also referred to as internal agencies (Groenleer, 2009). The location of the EU EAs seems to be of high practical importance for supervision. More particularly, the EU EAs are subject to close control and scrutiny of the Commission under which they work (Zonneveld, 2015; Costa and Brack, 2014). Therefore, in general, the EU EAs are restricted in the course of their actions. It is interesting to note that the Commission has the power to create and define the lifespan of such bodies (Brown, 2016).

Two main distinctive features of the EU EAs are autonomy and dependence (Costa and Brack, 2014). The literature acknowledges a certain amount of autonomy of these bodies. It highlights, however, that their primary goal "is to fulfill tasks that are set narrowly and in detail by the Commission" (Zbíral, 2009, p.173). In the same line as authors Lelieveldt and Princen (2015), Scholten (2014) identifies that EU EAs appear to be "assistant' agencies of the Commission" whose purpose it is to "manage and implement certain programs" (p.51). These are European Community programs spread across the MS

(Zonneveld, 2015). Besides, the EU EAs can "exercise executive functions by adopting measures intended to regulate a specific sector" while other EAs "are responsible for the coordination of a particular domain" (Costa and Brack, 2014, p.150). Research finds that the EU EAs have no discretionary power regarding political choices (Vestlund, 2015; Barbieri and Ongaro, 2008; Timmermann and Andoura, 2008). General conclusion is that the prime function of the EU EAs is the implementation of delegated policy programs determined by the Commission (Costa and Brack, 2014; Brown, 2016; Scholten, 2014)

Prominent research displays the different task and function of the Commission and the EU EAs. As can be seen from the literature the supervisory role of the Commission intends to assure that the EU EAs comply with their assigned tasks (Brown, 2016). Supervision of the Commission is carried out by the DGs. Delegated Community programs fall "under the remit of one of the Commission's DGs, each agency is overseen by the relevant DG(s) for the programs under their management" (Brown, 2016, p.83). This results in some EU EAs "having multiple parent DGs" while others while others remain under the supervision of a single DG (ibid.). More broadly, the research of Brown (2016) pinpoints that the Commission designates several additional supervisory bodies such as the Court of Auditors (CoA), the European Anti-Fraud Office (OLAF) or the internal auditor of the Commission (Brown, 2016).

It would be interesting to know more about the supervisory relation between the EU EAs, the Commission and particularly the supervisory parent DGs. While the findings of such research are valuable, it has to be considered that only "few studies have explicitly examined and conceptualized the relationship between the Commission and the European agencies or identified factors that condition such a relationship" (Vestlund, 2015, p.91). A more careful analysis is needed to understand this relation. The literature concerning prior research on the EU agencies contributes to a general understanding of the different tasks and roles of both the EC and the EAs. However, in the current state of research, this kind of relationship is not much explored. Further research is necessary to overcome the identified notable shortcoming as research has largely neglected the EU EAs in the public management literature.

It should, furthermore, be noted that most agency research focusses on the EU RA and specifically regulatory functions among the two types of EU agencies. Few scholars have devoted their attention to the EU EAs (Keleman 2002; Chamon, 2016; Dehousse 1997, Busuioc, 2009; Christensen and Laegreid, 2007; Maggetti, 2010; Curtin et al., 2011; Atanassov, 2015; Groenleer, 2009; Verschuere, 2007). In contrast to the EU EAs, the RAs are referred to as decentralized external agencies that are spread all over the MS (Groenleer, 2009). Both types of agency serve different purposes (Scholten, 2014). For instance, Keleman (2002) examines on how politics have shaped the functional design of RAs and frames one of the EU institutions as a principal. Chamon (2016) looks upon the legality of agencies with a particular focus on the RAs. Other researchers such as Dehousse (1997) illustrate the role, structure, and accountability of the EU RAs post-1992.

# 3.2. Research on the Steering of the EU Agencies

EU agencies need to get orders from somewhere. The field of public administration has emphasized the importance of steering actors to direct and guide the actions of the EU agencies. Research of Barbieri and Ongaro (2008) stresses that "the activities of the EU agencies are monitored and subjected to rules issued by the European Parliament, the Council and the European Commission" (p. 407). Monitoring of the EU agencies is considered being a control mechanism used by steering actors to restrict and steer the agencies. The primary purpose of this is to assure that the objectives of the steering actor are achieved (Verschuere, 2007). It is recognized that the Commission is the prime actor executing a control function over the activities of the EU agencies. This provides insurance for dissenting behavior of agencies (Sappington, 1991). Notwithstanding, it often can be difficult to define the actor clearly in the role of the principal. Reversely, it is not clearly determined who is considered as the main superior body of the EU agencies (Groenleer, 2009; Dehousse 2008; Vestlund, 2015).

Another stream of relevant contributions regarding the steering of the EU agencies comes from Vestlund (2015). In her research, she acknowledges a distinct role of the Commission and identifies a close relationship particularly between the EU agencies and the Commission. In fact, it is pointed out that the Commission controls the EU agencies by "informal hierarchical structures" (Vestlund, 2015, p.81). It is known from the literature that the EU institutions deploy supervisory mechanisms to control the EU agencies through formal provisions. She insists on the importance of the Commission as control asserting actor (Vestlund, 2015).

As previously implied, the aim of the supervisory function is to apply a control mechanism that serves as a means to steer and coordinate the EU agencies. Steering of the EU agencies needs to be coordinated by principals to achieve their desired objectives. The executive director in line with the mandate of the agency manages the EU agencies. Interestingly, the executive director is appointed on the proposal of the Commission by a management board. This board appears to assert control in various forms of the EU agencies. Based on the information in the present literature, it can be inferred that it coordinates the steering of the EU agencies through the establishment of internal rules, the adoption of the annual work program (AWP) and the annual activity report (AAR) (Barbieri and Ongaro, 2008).

Despite the consideration of the distinct role of the Commission, a shortcoming in the existing research on the steering of the EU agencies is the lack of a clearly defined principal. Some scholars have focused their analysis on the role of the EU institutions and their monitoring functions to which the EU agencies are subjected. However, the configuration of a multiplicity of potential steering actors has not been explicitly addressed and has less often been discussed (Elgie, 2002). Other scholars such as Zonneveld (2016) denote that there is not much knowledge on the coordination of steering by multiple steering actors within an EU setting. Up to now, there is no systematic research on the steering of the EU agencies with a particular focus on M-Ps. Furthermore, there is a shortage of comparative material, and thus, the analysis of the steering relations of the EU agencies remains mostly limited. Altogether, my study aims to fill the previously mentioned gaps in by focusing and expanding the research dimension to the neglected EU EAs and the joint coordination of steering by M-Ps within an EU setting.

#### Chapter Four: Methodology

Chapter Four deals with the methodology of the study. It lays out the strategy for answering the research question and is divided into four sub-sections. First, it presents the research design and continues second, with the motivation for the case study selection. The third sub-section elaborates on the data selection followed by fourth, a discussion of the reliability and validity of the study.

#### 4.1 Research Design

In this study, two case studies are in-depth analyzed by using an exploratory research design (Mack et al., 2005). A qualitative analysis is applied to investigate the joint coordination of steering of the EU EAs by M-Ps. An advantage "of qualitative methods in exploratory research is that they allow the researcher the flexibility to probe initial participant responses – that is, to ask why or how" (Mack et al., 2005, p.4). Such a design is "rich and explanatory in nature" (ibid.). Adopting an exploratory qualitative approach consequently increases the certainty to explain the steering relation between the different involved principals and agents (Mack et al., 2005). In its overall set up, the study looks at the EACEA, the REA, and multiple DGs. The working departments of the Commission are the control asserting actors that supervise and monitor the EU EAs. Thus, various DGs are framed as M-Ps in my study (Europa, 2016; Europa², 2016).

Methodologically, the study relies on document analysis and in-depth interviews. For this exploratory study, in-depth interviews are essential because they support to collect "on individuals' personal histories, perspectives, and experiences, particularly when sensitive topics are being explored" (Mack et al., 2005, p.2). More precisely, the study builds on the following two sources of data for evidence:

- 12 interviews with EU officials from EU EAs and the EC;
- Primary literature such as official EC and agency documents.

From approximately 90 contacted EU officials found through the EU "Who is Who" Web site I have talked to a total of 12 key players in the field. These can be accessed in Appendix A. Testimonials through in-depth interviews allowed gaining inside information that was otherwise not available. Interviewees played an illustrative role (Mack et al., 2005). Originally, I started with nine in-depth interviews. After the interviewing, I turned everything into a more structured format. The interviews were completed with a detailed questionnaire. Three people filled in the questionnaire in which I requested specific information. All interviewees were promised full anonymity. In-depth interview questions and the questionnaire are attached in Appendices C, D, E, F, and G. Given the research design, the research procedure in the analysis will first investigate what is common to both of the EAs and continues to scrutinize intrinsic coordination features for both cases.

# 4.2. Selecting the Cases: the EACEA and the REA

The case study selection of this study is divided into two parts. Part one motivates the choice for the case selection whereas part two justifies why particularly the cases of the EACEA and the REA are chosen. In this study, I have selected the EAs for the reason that this type of agency has attracted little interest in EU agency research. In part, this may be due to the recent establishment of EAs. In total, there are six EU EAs (McCormick, 2015). The chosen cases serve as a means to learn something about the population of cases from which it is drawn (Rohlfing, 2013).

Main selection criterion was to choose well-established cases with a number of supervising DGs as otherwise cooperation would not be sound ingrained. Cases with a number of parent DGs allow to investigate the joint coordination of steering and give insights into the complexity of the program coordination by M-Ps. Four among the six EAs met this criterion. Among those, the EACEA and the REA were randomly chosen. Both agencies represent entrenched and stable cases since their initial set up in 2005 and 2007. The EACEA and the REA are well selected in the sense that they have a multitude of parent DGs and thus, represent a sample of the six EU EAs explaining the joint coordination of steering.

Besides, a selection criterion was to decide for two contrasting cases with regard to the prime focus of this study (Meyer, 2001). As membership in the main body of joint coordination is limited to five DG representatives, it was additionally interesting to select the two cases of the EACEA and the REA among which one exceeds the number of five parent DGs whereas the other case remains below the limit. Given this information, it makes both cases eligible to investigate how multiple DGs jointly coordinate the steering of the EU EAs.

#### 4.3. Data Selection

Primary documents and interviews are used to investigate the joint coordination of steering by M-Ps. In the present description of the data selection I will outline what type of data I used to (1) examine coordination elements common to both of the EAs; (2) investigate intrinsic coordination features of each case. After that, I will broadly outline the interviewees and what type of position they occupied. The study refers to the number of respondents alphabetically and will relate to each interviewee by the assigned letter in the analysis. Selected respondents were representatives of various levels depicting different types of people.

To analyze coordination elements common to both of the EAs I use the following documents:

- Council Regulation 58/2003 laying down the statue for EAs to be entrusted with certain tasks in the management of Community programs;
- Commission Regulation (EC) No 651/2008 establishing a standard financial regulation for EAs;
- Commission Decision C(2014) 9109 establishing guidelines for the establishment and operation of EAs.

In addition, I use a number of smaller documents such as:

- Commission Communication C(2008) 135 final on European Agencies The way forward {SEC(2008) 323};
- Commission staff working paper on assessing gaps between the internal control framework of the Commission Services and set out control principles by the CoA;
- Commission staff working document C(2005) 190 final on guidelines for the appointment of heads of Community agencies;
- Commission Decision on the Early Warning System to be used by authorizing officers of the EAs (2014/792/EU);
- Communication to the Commission on the delegation of the 2014 2020 programs to EAs SEC(2013) 493 final;
- Special Report No 14 (2009) from the CoA on the delegation of implementing tasks to EAs.

To interrogate the intrinsic coordination features of both of the EAs I use the following case specific documents:

- Commission Decision delegating powers to each agency with a view on the performance of tasks linked to implementation of specific Community programs (C 2013(9189 final); C(2008)3980 final;
- Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) (Ref. Ares (2016)664704; Ref. Ares(2015)1333575);
- Commission Decisions on the Composition of the Steering Committee (StC).

Moreover, I use some smaller documents such as:

• Commission Decision setting up the Agency ((2005/56/EC); (2008/46/EC));

- Commission Implementing Decision on the extended agency mandates until 2024 ((2013/776/EU); (2013/778/EU));
- Some AARs. For the EACEA 2012 2014 and for the REA 2012 and 2014;
- AWP of the EACEA of 2015;
- AARs of four DGs between 2013 and 2014;
- Evaluation report of the operation of the agency;
- Specific delegated programs to the agency.

The following documents I will not use due to unavailability:

- Minutes of the StC meetings<sup>1</sup>;
- AWP of REA<sup>2</sup>.

I talked to the following types of profiles in the interviews:

- (A) An assistant of a director of an agency;
- (B) A former StC member of an agency;
- (C) An employee of a DG involved in finance;
- (D) An employee of a DG involved with EAs and who had contact to the StC;
- (E) An employee of an agency who had contact to the StC and is involved in the coordination with the DGs;
- (F) An employee of the DG RTD unit coordinating the delegation of program implementation to EAs;
- (G) An adviser of a DG;
- (H) An employee of a DG related to finance and administration;
- (I) An employee of a DG;
- (J) An employee of DG HOME;
- (K) An employee of a DG related to policy frameworks;
- (L) An employee of DG CNECT.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> I had requested these documents at the general secretariat of the European Commission on the EU transparency side. The Commission is working on my request to access documents since April which implies a substantial procedure. However, I have not yet received them and thus, will not use them; <a href="https://ec.europa.eu/transparency/regdoc/index.cfm?fuseaction=fmb&language=en">https://ec.europa.eu/transparency/regdoc/index.cfm?fuseaction=fmb&language=en</a> <sup>2</sup> I had requested the document by the REA but did not receive it.

#### 4.4. Reliability and Validity

Stebbins (2001) research concerning exploratory research in social sciences refers to reliability as "the replicability of a researcher's observations; it turns on the question of whether another researcher with similar methodological training, understanding of the field setting, and rapport with its subjects can make similar observations (p.9). On an overall basis, the information gained through the interviews could be verified by primary documents ensuring consistent results. The reliability was further increased by cross-checking the obtained interview information with a majority of interviewees. It should be recognized, however, that the views of the respondents are purely informal and can not reflect the formal position of the Commission.

Validity in exploratory research often is associated with the term credibility (Stebbins, 2001). The study experiences a rather high external validity. The results of the study show that the EAs are set up and coordinated in a similar way. There are features common to all the EAs that ensure consistent results. All EAs have a StC through which multiple DGs coordinate the steering of the EU EAs. Moreover, all have management bodies that are used to coordinate them through their delegation acts. The increased number of interviewees allows "to constitute grounds for valid generalization" (Stebbins, 2001, p.8). Therefore, the chosen case studies represent a sample of the population of EU EAs. Lastly, the purely explorative research approach ensures high internal validity given that there is no dependent and independent variable whose relation could be affected by other factors (Johnson et al., 2015).

# **Chapter Five: Case Description**

Chapter Five introduces the chosen case studies. It first provides a description of the EACEA and continues with the REA for a general understanding of both cases.

#### 5.1. The EACEA

The EACEA is based in Brussels and was created in 2005. This agency is among one of the first established EU EAs that started to operate fully in 2006 (European Commission<sup>3</sup>, 2005). The number of employees responsible for the smooth running of the agency counted up to 458 staff members in 2014. Amongst them are 350 contract agents and 108 seconded officials (European Commission<sup>10</sup>, 2016). Director of the agency is Brian Holmes, who was appointed in 2012 (European Commission<sup>6</sup>, 2013). The agency is responsible for the management of community action in the fields of education,

audiovisual and culture. It implements delegated programs, however, has no policy discretion. Due to a positive cost-benefit analysis and the efficient implementation of delegated programs (European Union, 2013), the mandate of the agency was extended until 2024 (European Commission<sup>4</sup>, 2013). It is evident that the agency has a positive cost-benefit analysis and efficiently implemented previously delegated programs (Ecorys, 2013). For this reason, it seems self-evident that the mandate of the agency was further extended until the year 2024 (European Commission<sup>4</sup>, 2013). The EACEA's operational budget amounts more than € 600 million per year (European Commission<sup>10</sup>, 2016) with an administrative budget of € 49 million (Ecorys, 2013). The EACEA is an autonomous legal entity (Ecorys, 2013). Notwithstanding, it operates under the supervision of four parent DGs (Europa, 2016). More precisely, each of the EACEA's parent DGs delegated a program to the agency that is supervised by the corresponding thematic DG. The following DGs are parent DGs of the agency:

- Education and Culture (DG EAC);
- Communications Networks, Content and Technology (DG CNECT);
- Migration and Home Affairs (DG HOME);
- Humanitarian Aid and Civil Protection (DG ECHO), (Europa, 2016).

#### 5.2. The REA

The Brussels-based REA was set up in 2007 and started to operate fully in 2009 (European Commission³, 2008; Europa², 2016). In total, the agency employees some 545 staff members (European Commission³, 2016). Since 2012, director of the agency is Gascard Gilbert (European Commission³, 2016). The REA is responsible for the management of research proposals, funded projects and community activities in the field of research. Besides, the agency strives for effective research and innovative programs (European Commission², 2016). In 2014, the Commission delegated parts of one of its largest research programs in history to the agency. Hence, the primary activity of the REA is the implementation of parts of the delegated Horizon 2020 (H2020) program (European Commission³, 2016). It appears that in general the agency efficiently implemented delegated programs in previous years. The agency's evaluation report acknowledges this. Given this, it comes naturally that the agency's mandate was extended until 2024 (European Commission⁵, 2013). The REA's operational budget comprised approximately € 1.6 billion in 2014 with an administrative budget of €60.1 million in 2015 (Europa², 2016). Having its own legal personality, the REA is an autonomous body (European Commission³, 2016). It operates under the supervision of six parent DGs. Each parent DG of the

REA has delegated a part of the H2020 program to the agency that is supervised by the corresponding thematic DG. The following DGs are the parent DGs of the REA:

- Research and Innovation (DG RTD);
- Internal Market, Industry, Entrepreneurship and SMEs (DG GROW);
- Education and Culture (DG EAC);
- Communications Networks, Content and Technology (DG CNECT);
- Agriculture and Rural Development (DG AGRI), (Europa<sup>2</sup>, 2016);
- Home (DG HOME), (European Commission<sup>8</sup>, 2014).

### Chapter Six: Data Analysis

Chapter Six reports the findings and observations concerning the joint coordination of steering common to the EACEA and the REA. A qualitative analysis is applied based on based on primary documents and interviews. The data analysis is divided into four main sub-chapters. The first sub-chapter analyses coordination features common to the EACEA and the REA. After that, the examination of intrinsic coordination features inherent to each of the case studies follows in the second and third sub-chapter. The chapter concludes with a summary. At all stages, interviews are used to support and supplement the information given in the documents.

#### 6.1. Coordination Features Common to Both the EAs

The first sub-section starts with a general background of the study theme. Mapping of the joint coordination of steering common to both the EACEA and the REA is scrutinized by three core documents that govern all six EU EAs. These are the following: (1) Council Regulation (EC) No 58/2003 laying out the statue for EAs to be entrusted with certain tasks in the management of Community programs; (2) Commission Regulation (EC) No 651/2008 establishing a standard financial regulation for EAs; and (3) Commission Decision C(2014) 9109 establishing guidelines for the establishment and operation of the EAs. Both agencies are governed by the same legal framework and thus, coordinated in a similar way.

# 6.1.2 Background

EAs in the EU are responsible for the implementation of delegated policy programs. The Commission develops and determines the content of such policy agendas. To implement a particular policy, the Commission occasionally decides to transfer some if its programs to the EU EAs. For efficient program implementation by the agencies, the Commission assigns parent DGs that are responsible for monitoring the activities of the EAs (Interview E). Hierarchically, the Director-General heads each DG (European Commission, 2013). Both parent DGs and the agency are interdependent and manage such programs together (Interview E).

A MoU governs the cooperation modalities between the parent DGs and the agency (interview A, E, H, K). The MoU complements the delegation of powers act of each agency and was adopted by the Commission. Hence, certain aspects of coordination already have been defined by the Commission. Parent DGs are responsible for achieving the political and policy objectives of the delegated program (Interview F; European Commission<sup>2</sup>, 2013). It is important to reiterate that DGs have policy discretion whereas EU EAs have an implementation function. The agency's activities are determined in its AWP. The AWP delineates the use of the operational budget for the funding programs (Interview G).

Three interviewees (G, C, D) underlined that each policy program is defined for seven years by the multiannual financial framework (MFF). Each program is broken down on an annual basis determining the annual budget available for the implementation. Once a program is defined, the thematic DGs can forward policy programs for implementation to the EAs corresponding to their portfolio. EU EAs can implement a variety of different programs depending on the number of delegated programs by the DGs. Therefore, the number of parent DGs can vary from one as in the case of the European Research Council Executive Agency (ERCEA) up to seven in the case of the Executive Agency for Small and Medium-seized Enterprises (EASME) (Europa<sup>3</sup>, 2016; interview F).

#### 6.1.3. Council Regulation (EC) No 58/2003

Council Regulation 58/2003 entrusts the EU EAs with certain tasks in the management and implementation of Community Programs (Eur-Lex, 2016). The EC has delegated the responsibility for implementing such programs to EAs. This regulation thus regulates the governance of the EAs regarding aspects such as structure, tasks, operation, budget system, staff, supervision, and

responsibility. After analyzing the document, it is evident that it puts stringent obligations on the EAs and sets out some instruments that are used to coordinate the steering of the EU EAs.

There is a diversified mix of established instruments used to coordinate the steering of the EU EAs. Part of this set of steering devices include the following: (1) the StC; (2) the director of the agency; (3) EC external evaluation reports; (4) compliance with the principle of sound financial management; (5) intensified collaboration with DGs; (6) supervision by the OLAF, the CoA, the Commission and its internal auditor (Eur-Lex, 2016).

It appears from the data that overall, a particular emphasis is given to the StC and the director concerning the joint coordination of steering of both of the EAs. The StC and the director represent the top management of the agency that jointly steer such bodies. Parent DGs multilaterally review the performance of the agency in the StC and make strategic management decisions together with the director (Interview F). The EACEA and the REA are both steered through reporting and planning functions by the StC (Interview G). Hence, both are of prime relevance for this study. Role and function of the StC and the director will be explained more in detail in the following sub-sections.

Within the scope of this study, it should be noted that both agencies are required to "collaborate intensively and continuously" with the DGs that are involved in managing the programs of the agency (Eur-Lex, 2016, p.2). As can be seen from the Council Regulation DGs are entitled to ask the agency for the submission of regular reports related to the performance of tasks of the agency (Eur-Lex, 2016). It can, therefore, be inferred that reporting mechanisms and the supervisory function of DGs are a means to coordinate the steering of EU EAs.

Close supervision is furthermore reflected in the fact that the EU EAs are supposed to be closely located to the EC and hence, the Commission departments and services (European Commission, 2008). Moreover, the EC appoints key staff in the EAs (European Commission, 2005) and their human resource management should be "as far as possible be aligned with HR practices in the relevant parent DG" (European Commission<sup>2</sup>, 2013, p.12). The given information implies that close cooperation facilitates the coordination of steering.

In particular, coordination is of significance for EAs such as the EACEA and the REA with a multiplicity of parent DGs. To coordinate approaches of the DGs is a key "as not to create too much pressure or even conflicting requirements, where one part of the delegated programs could jeopardize others" (Interview F). The political and policy goals are more likely to be achieved with a smooth coordination among all parent DGs and the agency so that DGs can coordinate with each other to steer the agency.

# 6.1.3.1. The Steering Committee

The StC is the highest institutional governing and supervision body of the EU EAs by legislation. The parent DGs collectively exercise supervision in the StC. Tasks of the StC are described in Article 8 and 9 of Council Regulation 58/2003 (Eur-Lex, 2016). This committee is a body that consists of five representatives of the agency's parent DGs. In the case of more than five parent DGs, a rotating representation scheme is applied. Although not stated in the regulation, there can be observers from other DGs sitting in the StC (Interview F). Interviewee G says that "the formal and only 'coordination' meeting is the Steering Committee" in which multiple DGs coordinate the steering of the agency.

Therefore, the coordination of steering of the EACEA and the REA by various DGs has to be seen in the context of the StC as the main body of joint coordination by DGs. In the StC, parent DGs coordinate among each other to steer the agency. This body is designed to enhance coordination tasks and can be described as the governing board of the agency in which parent DGs coordinate themselves (Interview C). In other words, parent DGs "govern the agencies through Steering Committees" (Interview F). From a hierarchical view, it represents the highest level of coordination among DGs and can be seen as the most traditional form of coordination (Interview F). The members of the StC are senior managers from the thematic parent DGs "usually at the level of the Director-General, Deputy Director-General or Director" (Interview F, L). This results in having the same people in the StC and a management position in a parent DG.

Meetings of the StC take place at least four times a year (Eur-Lex, 2016; Interview C, D, G, L). The StC consists of five appointed members by the Commission and chooses its chair- and deputy-chairperson among its members. In principle, the term of office is two years (Eur-Lex, 2016). It is the responsibility of the chairman of the StC to inform the DGs on the decisions taken during the meeting or any relevant subject concerning the agency. The StC appears to be an essential element to enhance effective coordination and cooperation among the DGs (European Commission<sup>3</sup>, 2014).

Decisions taken by the StC affect every part of the agency (Interview F). Inherent to the system of the StC is that it takes decisions by a simple majority of votes of its members (Eur-Lex, 2016). Each member of the Committee has one vote and can promote its interest. All votes count equally and all DGs stand on an equal footing (Interview H). Thus, it is apparent that the structure of the StC appears to be democratic in its essence. Although the Council Regulation states the usage of votes, in reality, the StC makes decisions consensually and by unanimity (Interview F). Hence, decisions are made similar to a consensus governance model. Interviewee G described it as a "common cooperation style". In general, it should be noted that there can be exceptions "usually handled directly between the agency and the parent DG in charge" (Interview F). However, several interviewees mentioned that one primary parent DG is playing a leading role in the relations with the agency (Interview D, C, E, F). The lead parent DGs is also the DG that assumes the role of the chair in the StC (Interview F). As can be recognized, the lead DG appears to have a dominating role in the coordination process.

Points of discussion in the StC are for instance administrative issues, staff regulations, evaluations, programs or the AAR of the agency. The StC takes and validates formal decisions such as the AWP and the AAR (European Commission², 2015). Furthermore, it decides on the organization of the agency, adopts the administrative budget of the agency and annual accounts (Eur-Lex, 2016). The DGs have to perform tasks with a "large measure of discretion implying political choices" such as setting objectives or adopting AWP's including decisions regarding financial matters (European Commission³, p.8, 2014). Furthermore, the director informs the StC on issues such as the implementation of the operational and administrative budget and human resources. During the meeting parent DGs report to each other on the implementation status of their delegated programs to the agency. Thus, all parent DGs are informed about the agency's activities and current affairs between the thematic DGs and the agency (Interview E, D).

Concerning the preparation of the StC meetings, DG services prior analyze "matters to be discussed and develop a line to take" (Interview G). Interviewee G continued, "this may, occasionally, concern divergent views of the DGs, which, if important, are clarified before the meeting". The StC is described as a body in which debate does not take place although it potentially could. A debate is considered to be a sign of failure that implies that meetings were not sufficiently prepared (Interview B). It seems that "some points are discussed in advance in a less formal setting between several StC members" (Interview F). Therefore, it is not clearly visible how the StC takes decisions as certain information are not available.

The most important document discussed in the StC is the agency's AAR (Interview E). AARs outlines the work of the agency by individual indicators mentioned in the AWP (European Commission<sup>3</sup>, 2014). The StC multilaterally adopts AWPs based on a draft by the director comprising detailed objectives and performance indicators (Eur-Lex, 2016). Parent DGs can assess the agency's performance by comparing key indicators stated in the AWP of the agency against the indicators in the AAR (European Commission<sup>2</sup>, 2015). The annual planning cycle, therefore, forms the basis of the monitoring of the agency's activities for the StC that oversees the planning and reporting (Interview G). The StC aims to assure that the agency properly aligns its work with what is stated in the AWP through its supervisory function. For this reason, the parent DGs have to coordinate with each other on a high level to have an overview of the activities of the agency (Interview D).

However, it is an ambition to create more consistent and structured "approaches for particular policy areas" of DGs (European Commission², 2005, p.22). DGs occasionally start to focus on "control objectives rather than formal compliance" to ensure efficient operations (ibid.4). However, a report by the CoA states that "the executive agencies have generally been assigned tasks without results-oriented objectives and related targets" (CoA, 2009, p.24). This implies that there is room for improvement and regarding the assessment of the EAs and a common coordinated approach to steer this type of agency by the DGs.

The role of the StC can be exemplified through the metaphor of 'the captain and his crew on a ship' (Interview E). While the captain of the ship is visualized as the EC, the ships' crew is the agency. All actors know where the ship is heading. Each player is aware of its responsibilities on the collective journey without the captain continuously reinforcing the precise moves of each player. The tasks of both the agency and the parent DGs are limited given the legislative framework of the EU EAs since some tasks are only reserved to the Commission. (European Commission³, 2014). Hence, one should consider that the StC has certain legal provisions, statuary requirements (Interview E) and is bound by the content of policy programs given by the Commission (Interview G).

### 6.1.3.2. Role and Function of the Director

The director represents the agency is responsible for its daily management. He or she is appointed by the Commission for a renewable term of four years. He or she sets up management and internal control systems to ensure the lawful operation of the agency. Tasks of the director complement the supervisory functions of the parent DGs. Most commonly, the director is someone from the leading

parent DG contrary to the chairperson of the StC (Interview F). The manager of the agency is, therefore, a DG representative that ensures close supervision by the parent DGs (Eur-Lex, 2016).

Heads of the EAs are also referred to as authorizing officers by delegation from the EC "as regards implementation of the operational appropriations relating to the Community programs in the management of which the executive agency is involved" (Eur-Lex, 2016, p.4). In short, the director is authorizing officer for the implementation of spending operations. Authorizing officers are by legislation endowed to be fully informed of "of threats to the Union's financial interest" (Eur-Lex<sup>4</sup>, p. 1, 2016). The EC established the early warning system (EWS) for authorizing officers in EAs and the EC to protect financial fraud.

Tasks of the director include the preparation and participation in the work of the StC. Managers are responsible for assuring that the StC "receives all relevant information, particularly relating to the establishment and implementation of internal control framework" (European Commssion³, p.26, 2014). Furthermore, directors report back to all the parent DGs of the agency to inform them about the activities of the agency (Interview D). The reporting function ensures collaboration between the agency and the thematic DGs.

Also, the director drafts the AWP of the agency for the StC. The director is responsible for implementing the AWP and thus, the implementation of Community programs as authorizing officer. Of particular importance is that the managers of the EAs prepare and publish the AARs of the agency. These are of crucial importance as they serve as a basis for the joint coordination of steering of the EAs by DGs in the StC. Regarding budget, the director has to provide and draw provisional statements regarding the agency's revenue and expenditure. Each director has to make a draft of the operating budget covering the agency's running costs. Besides that, directors implement the administrative budget of the EU EAs<sup>3</sup>.

To conclude, the director can be seen as a connector between the agency and the parent DGs as he or she is involved with both. Hence, the work and role of the director helps to ensure smooth coordination among parent DGs and the agency. Directors have to comply with the obligations laid down in the financial regulation for the EAs that will be analyzed in the next section.

38

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The administrative budget includes running costs of the agency such as heating, building costs while the operating budget is used for the implementation of community programs.

## 6.1.4. Commission Regulation (EC) No 651/2008

Commission Regulation 651/2008 establishes a standard financial regulation for EU EAs (Eur-Lex², 2016). This regulation recognizes the legal personality of EAs and governs the implementation of the operating and administrative budget of the EACEA and the REA. It thus determines the budget both EAs have for the spending operations of the delegated programs (Eur-Lex³, 2016). Analyzing the regulation illustrates a broad mix of interrelations between various actors. However, the primary focus of this study remains on the DGs and the agency.

Parent DGs coordinate about financial issues that directly affect the agency. Both agencies have to send each year "an estimate of' their "revenue and expenditure... drawn up by" the director and adopted by the StC (Eur-Lex², 2016, p.3). More precisely, the director has to make a draft of the operating budget for the spending operations for the agency for the following financial year. This draft is submitted to the StC. Parent DGs coordinate among each other to approve and adopt the final accounts of the agency. After that, the operational budget is determined by the AWP of the funding programs of DGs that are delegated to the EAs. As a result, the joint coordination of steering of EAs by parent DGs can be seen from a financial perspective too.

Besides, regular reports from sides of the agency serve as a basis for parent DGs to remain informed about the agency's financial activities and thus, ensure financial supervision (Eur-Lex², 2016). The "planning and reporting of an EA has to be seen in the context of the annual budget cycle" (Interview G). Accordingly, the Financial Regulation states the budget shall be established in compliance with the principle of annuality (Eur-Lex², 2016, p.2).

In cases where the director decides "on transfers of appropriations within the operating budget," he or she has to inform both the EC and the StC (Eur-Lex², 2016, p.3). Against this background, the power of the director is restricted, and coordination among the parent DGs is reinforced. The financial regulation requires the director to report furthermore to the StC "on the performance of his duties in the form of an annual activity report together with financial and management information" (Eur-Lex², p.5, 2016). This showcases the importance of the AAR since the parent DGs use the former to coordinate together.

The StC appoints a seconded official or "a member of the temporary staff recruited by the agency" who is responsible for the "proper implementation of payments, the collection of revenue and recovery (...)" (Eur-Lex², p.5, 2016). This can be seen as a direct result of the joint coordination of steering by the DGs in the StC. Moreover, internal auditing services are deployed in the agency to

advise the authorizing officers (directors) on dealing with risks. It is known from the regulation that the internal auditor reports to the StC and the director findings and recommendations. It can, therefore, be concluded that this can facilitate coordination among parent DGs to find appropriate measures and supervision mechanisms to prevent fraud.

## 6.1.5. Commission Decision (2014) 9109

The Commission Decision (2014) 9109 establishes a general framework and guidelines for the operation of EU EAs. Its purpose is to help "Commission services that use or intend to use executive agencies to manage their funding programs" (European Commission<sup>3</sup>, p.7, 2014). It is apparent that this document lays out a basis to support the efficient coordination of steering of the EAs by the EC working departments and services. The guidelines consist of numerous chapters. Given the subject of this study, emphasized is placed upon chapter eight related to the management of the relations with EAs. Two primary relationships are of relevance for this study. These are the following: (1) relationships between the director and the StC; and (2) the supervision of the agency by parent DGs.

First, I would like to address the relation between the director and the StC. The director and the agency have bilateral contact to parent DGs on a daily basis. Together, they deal with thematic details of the delegated programs (Interview F). Also, the director keeps in contact with the StC. However, the StC does not interfere on discussions and thematic details on the operational (management) level (Interview F). The coordination of steering takes place into two levels. On the operational level, the thematic parent DGs coordinate and steer the agency bilaterally, whereas the joint coordination of steering happens on the institutional level in the StC. The function of the director is crucial for the work of the StC and thus, the coordination of steering. He or she ensures that the StC "is specifically informed of any fact, situation or matter relating to management, in particular financial and/or reputational questions, which could have a significant effect on the accountability of the director and the responsibility of the committee" (European Commission³, 2014, p.16). It seems plausible that the director limits the power of the agency through his or her supervisory functions and presence in the agency. In agreement with the parent DGs, the director carefully supervises the working environment in the agency and sends reports to the other DGs. As can be seen, the function of the director contributes to the coordination of steering by the DGs and among the DGs in the StC.

Now I would like to concentrate on the supervision of the agency by the parent DGs. The objective and mission of the parent DGs are to scrutinize the properly operation of the delegated programs and

in general the supervision of the activities of the agency (European Commission<sup>3</sup>, 2014; Interview F, E). The activities of the agency are monitored "by means of participation of the parent DGs in the StC" and "by regular coordination meetings at management level and further contacts at working level" (European Commission<sup>3</sup>, 2014, p.26). In each DG and agency, there are responsible units that execute tasks related to the delegated program on the operational level. The responsible units in a DG are in constant contact with the corresponding service in the agency concerning the relevant program (Interview F). Together they cooperate on aspects regarding the project implementation (Interview F) and thus ensure supervision and coordination. On a more general note, means of control "are embedded in the organizational set up of the agency" (European Commission<sup>3</sup>, p.26, 2014). This includes the previously indicated reporting obligations of the agency towards the DGs. Reporting mechanisms together with the internal auditor of the EC and the CoA present a "solid foundation on which the parent DGs" can "build additional supervision arrangements" (European Commission<sup>3</sup>, 2014, p.26).

## 6.2. Managing the Coordination of the EACEA

This sub-chapter is divided into four themes. The structure for analyzing intrinsic coordination features of the EACEA is as follows: first, it begins with a section on the relation between the agency and its parent DGs. Second, it continues with a section focusing on the EACEA's parent DGs. After that, it third examines the terms of cooperation between the EACEA and the parent DGs based on the corresponding MoU. Fourth, the last section scrutinizes StC compositions of the EACEA to gain information how the coordination happens.

#### 6.2.1. The EACEA and the Parent DGs

To start with, it is crucial to distinct between the administrative and the operational side of the EACEA (Interview E). On the administrative side, the agency only works together with the DG EAC that supervises the agency on administrative and resource matters. Responsible for this performance is the resources and planning unit 'R' within DG EAC and particularly the unit R2 for finances, accounting and programming (Interview I; Europa<sup>4</sup>, 2016). On the operational side of the agency, thematic parent DGs supervise the implementation of delegated programs and collaborate with the agency. The results and findings of the supervision by each thematic DG are multilaterally discussed in the StC by all four parent DGs of the EACEA.

The EACEA has a complex programmatic structure due to four delegated programs to the agency. This involves a variety of sub-actions for each program (Interview I). The consequence of this is that coordination is particularly complex. Despite the different delegated programs and their diverging coordination needs, there are elements of common interest such as information technology (IT) architecture (Interview A). The EACEA aims to create harmonization across its programs on administrative side (Interview E). As a means of standardization, the EACEA has its own IT, legal and audit capacity to use for the different programs (I). This facilitates coordination in areas of mutual concern between the parent DGs from sides of the agency. In the delegation of powers act Article 8 also reinforces the use of shared support services and tools (European Commission³, 2013). However, a centralized body to create coherence and harmonization among the four different delegated programs does not exist.

Parent DGs of the EACEA enhance the coordination of steering of the agency through reporting mechanisms. The agency is obliged to submit regular reports to the "director-general of the parent DGs and to the Steering Committee" (European Commission³, p. 16, 2013). In this reporting process, the ECAEA is obliged to provide program specific information to each thematic DG mentioned in the establishment decisions of the delegated programs. It can, therefore, be inferred that reporting is part of the supervision strategy of the EACEA's parent DGs (Interview A). The systematic monitoring of EACEA is completed "through its Steering Committee" on the institutional level and through "periodic horizontal coordination meetings at various appropriate levels" on the operational level (European Commission⁵, p.111, 2013). Interestingly, agencies can meanwhile voluntarily push program specific information to parent DGs in cases they feel it is necessary (Interview E).

In addition, parent DGs can carry out "out documentary and on-the-spot checks at the agency" via their director-general (European Commission³, p.17, 2013). It may be assumed that occasionally, the parent DGs of the ECAEA can directly assert control and thus steer the agency. The delegation act further specifies that the EACEA "shall gather, monitor the quality, analyze and communicate to the parent Directorate-General all the information needed to guide the implementation of the programs entrusted to the agency" (European Commission³, p.17, 2013). A considerable effect is the interdependence of both actors and their need to cooperate well together to achieve their objectives.

#### 6.2.2. The Four Parents of the EACEA

As formerly mentioned in the case description of the EACEA, the agency has in total four parent DGs. Among the EACEA's parent DGs one DG is distinctively outstanding. The DG EAC acts as the main parent DG of the agency (European Commission, 2015; Interview A, B, F, L). It does more than half of the work concerning the EACEA while the other parent DGs divide the remaining work among themselves (Interview B). The DG EAC is expressly dominant because it delegates the biggest program to the EACEA. Correspondingly, this DG transfers most budget for spending operations to the agency in comparison to the other parent DGs. From a shareholder perspective, it is possible to represent the weight of each DG in terms of budget that is contributed to the agency for the delegated program (Interview F). Thus, program and budget size reflect the dominance of the DG EAC.

Furthermore, while each of the EACEA's parent DGs has one unit in the agency the DG EAC has seven units for its delegated program. This fact additionally mirrors the dominance of the DG EAC concerning supervision responsibilities towards the EACEA (European Commission<sup>2</sup>, 2014). The AAR of the EACEA from 2012 until 2014 reveal similarly the preeminent role of the DG EAC regarding the implementation of projects in this period. The other three parent DGs are, if at all, then only mentioned together with the DG EAC (European Commission<sup>6</sup>, 2013; European Commission<sup>7</sup>, 2013; European Commission<sup>4</sup>, 2014). The dominance of the DG EAC originates historically (Interview A, B). It was the DG EAC who set up the agency whereas the other three parent DGs only came in later. For this reason, the EACEA is "seen to belong more to the DG EAC than to any other DG" (Interview B).

On the operational level, each unit in the EACEA has a mirror unit in each of the four parent DGs (European Commission<sup>7</sup>, 2015; Interview A). The parent DGs are in constant contact with the corresponding unit in the agency. Interviewee A elaborated that each DG is active in its own unit. Generally, "the operational units of the parent DGs consult the agency on programs" (European Commission, 2015, p.14). It can, therefore, be recognized that coordination is usually focused on a particular program on a bilateral basis between the agency and the thematic parent DG. In this regard, the coordination with the DG EAC appears to be more complex due DG EACs numerous units in the agency. In contrast, this implies that it is easier to coordinate with the parent DGs that have only one unit in the agency (Interview A).

A further point worth considering is the fact that half of the parent DGs of the EACEA lately joined the agency as parents. In 2014, the DG HOME and the DG CNECT became newly integrated parent

DGs (European Commission<sup>7</sup>, 2015) with who the agency "started preparing the ground to establish a fruitful cooperation" (European Commission<sup>4</sup>, 2014, p.2). Strikingly, the DG HOME originates from the DG EAC, is very similar and uses the same infrastructure as the DG EAC (Interview J). The DG ECHO had already been a parent DG of the EACEA for a few years. For this reason, it comes naturally that coordination on the operational level between the agency and the DG EAC and the DG ECHO is more established. Interaction modalities between all the parent DGs and the EACEA are determined in the MoU that will be analyzed in the next sub-section (European Commission<sup>3</sup>, 2015; Interview K).

### 6.2.3. Memorandum of Understanding between the EACEA and the Parent DGs

The MoU determines the "modalities of procedure and interaction between the agency and the parent Directorate-Generals" (European Commission³, p.12, 2013). It is an internal contract signed between the director and the Director-Generals of the parent DGs that manages the relation between the agency and the different parent DGs (Interview C). In essence, it aims to create a harmonized approach regarding the supervision of the EACEA through the parent DGs and a "coherent day-to-day collaboration" (European Commission, p.6, 2015). The MoU requires the parent DGs to "coordinate among themselves for any question related to the agency" (European Commission, p.7, 2015). Coordination can be divided into two different levels: the institutional and the operational level. The MoU specifies the number of channels to enable optimal coordination between the agency and the parent DGs on both the institutional and the operational level (European Commission, 2015).

On the institutional level, the main channel of multilateral coordination between the EACEA and the four parent DGs is the StC. As discussed previously, it is the highest degree of joint coordination and can thus also be circumscribed as vertical level. All parent DGs of the EACEA coordinate the steering of the agency in the StC. The last chapter in the MoU requires all parent DGs to define a multilateral supervision strategy of the activities of the EACEA. In this regard, a pivotal emphasis is given to the AWP and the AAR of the EACEA. In particular, the AWP of the EACEA "contains an obligation of assessment of risk and risk exposure, and provides a number of key performance indicators" (European Commission, 2015, p.18). In this way, parent DGs can coordinate among each other and together coordinate the steering of the EACEA. Moreover, the AARs and evaluation reports are crucial measures to monitor the agency and hence, part of the joint oversight strategy. Each parent

DG has to report on their supervision of the agency in AAR "and in other reports" (European Commission, 2015, p.18). This assures accessible sources of information for all involved DGs and consequently facilitates the coordination among the DGs.

On the operational level, the main channel of coordination happens on a bilateral basis between the agency and its parent DGs (European Commission, 2015; Interview C; A). As the former is below the institutional level, it can correspondingly be considered as horizontal level (Interview F). The differentiation between a vertical and horizontal level illustrates the difference between both the institutional and the operational level. Coordination on the operational levels is based on delegated activities or topics of the thematic parent DGs (European Commission<sup>7</sup>, 2013; Interview F). There are systematic quarterly bilateral coordination meetings (Interview A) "organized between the Director of the Agency and each Operational Director at the parent DGs" (European Commission, 2015, p.8). Besides, there can be thematic meetings of parent DGs and internal working groups related to program activities. The agency joins these meetings that deal with issues such as the simplification of legal bases (European Commission, 2015, p.9). It can be observed that there is a thoroughly close interrelation between both actors on both levels.

### 6.2.4. Steering Committee Compositions of the EACEA from 2011 - 2015

In the period from 2011 until 2015, there are four StC compilations (European Commission<sup>2</sup>, 2011; European Commission<sup>3</sup>, 2011; European Commission<sup>6</sup>, 2014; European Commission<sup>4</sup>, 2015). In each composition, the DG EAC has a majority of members in the StC with two representatives. All other DGs have only one member in the StC. This reflects the leading role of the DG EAC. Noticeably, the proposal for the agenda is made by the DG EAC and the agency while the other DGs are consulted after (Interview C). Given the leading role of the DG EAC, it is self-explanatory that this DG acts as a chair in the StC (Interview C). Although the DG EAC has two representatives, it former has no additional voting rights (Interview C, A). Noticeable, it has to be taken into consideration that parent DGs of the agency can occasionally change as the governance of the agency has to adapt to the delegated programs with each MFF.

Members in the StC are identified by function and rang (European Commission<sup>2</sup>, 2011; European Commission<sup>3</sup>, 2011; European Commission<sup>6</sup>, 2014; European Commission<sup>4</sup>, 2015; Interview G). Hierarchically, members of the DG EAC hold the highest position in the StC. The highest

representative of the DG EAC in the StC is the director-general. DG EAC's second representative in the StC is in every composition the director responsible for resources. Other parent DGs have a representative of a particular directorate within their DG. These are usually a director or a head of a unit related to the thematic delegated program. Once and only in 2011, a previous parent DG had a higher ranking StC member with a deputy director-general.

A striking element is an appearance of the DG Budget (DG BUGD) in each of the StC compositions. In three of the four StC compilations, the DG BUDG had a representative member in the StC. In the latest composition in 2015, the DG BUDG received an observer status during the meetings. This information is a rather surprising observation. Interviewee B shared from personal experience that a possible reason for having DG BUDG involved in the StC was that "people are most afraid of a financial scandal" (Interview B). It was believed that the DG BUDG could give somehow more authority to decisions of the StC.

The latest and most relevant StC composition is that of 2015 since it concerns the current parent DGs of the EACEA. This composition has to be seen in context with the newly delegated programs to the EACEA that are far more spread among different DGs. In previous StC compositions, delegated programs remained mainly by the DG EAC. Thus, it seems to explain why the DG EAC has had a majority of up to three representatives in the StC in earlier years. In the current composition of 2015, each of the other three parent DGs has one representative member in the StC and the DG EAC as usual has two members. Representatives in the StC cooperate positively and constructively with each other (Interview I). Decisions are made based on consensus. The usage of a vote would take place in a case of conflict. However, this has not happened so far in the StC of the EACEA (Interview A).

#### 6.3. Managing the Coordination of the REA

This third sub-chapter is divided into five sections. First, it starts with a section on the relation between the REA and the parent DGs and second, progresses with a section of REA's parent DGs. Due to the program specific body, the third section is about the Common Support Center (CSC). In the fourth section, modalities of interaction between the agency and the parent DGs are discussed based on the specific MoU. Fifth, the REA's StC compilations are analysed.

#### 6.3.1. The REA and the Parent DGs

In contrast to the other case study that manages a number of different programs, the case of the REA is somewhat different. The REA is implementing parts of a program that has its own legal framework with different rules. It is thus reasonable that the REA has to coordinate with its parent DGs to fit into this structure (European Commission<sup>5</sup>, 2013). The REA implements only parts of one big program. In total, four EAs implement parts of this program that is called Horizon 2020 (H2020) (European Commission<sup>5</sup>, 2016). The DG RTD has a global coordination role for H2020 (European Commission<sup>2</sup>, 2013; Interview L, F). To add a layer of complexity, some of REA's parent DGs share a program with another parent DG such as the DG AGRI and the DG RTD (Interview D).

Parent DGs of the REA are part of a group of DGs that are involved in implementing research programs. Research and innovation DGs are under the lead of the DG RTD and commonly referred to as 'research family' (European Commission<sup>4</sup>, 2016). The research family created administrative structures to harmonize the collective work for the involved EAs and parent DGs that implement parts of H2020. These take the form of two entities offering centralized services: The Common Support Center (CSC); and common "administrative and logistical support services provided by the REA" (European Commission<sup>2</sup>, 2013, p.4; Interview E, F). The CSC has a separate section.

It has to be distinguished between the administrative and the operational side of the agency. On the administrative side, the DG RTD is the primary contact for the agency and deals with the administrative side. The DG RTD "has a central unit to monitor the administrative functioning of the REA" (Interview G). In this regard, the DG RTD has a unique function in comparison to the other parent DGs. On the operational level, the thematic parent DGs and the agency have bilateral meetings in which they coordinate on program-specific issues. The REA is required to maintain "close working relations with parent DGs (...) and other Executive Agencies" (European Commission, 2012, p.23). In the case of the REA, there is a particular need for coordination between the DGs in the sense that they are so many.

Reporting mechanism is a means to ensure the coordination of steering of the REA by the parent DGs. The REA has supervision requirements such as to report DGs "on progress in implementing Union programs" (European Commission³, 2008, p.3; European Commission⁵, 2013, p.3). Furthermore, the agency has to send performance of tasks reports "on a monthly or quarterly basis" to both the StC and the heads of the parent DGs (European Commission², 2008, p.13). Parent DGs can furthermore carry out audits such as "documentary and on-the-spot checks" to steer the agency

(European Commission<sup>2</sup>, 2008, p.15). It also should be noted the REA itself pushes information to its parent DGs occasionally (Interview E). Interviewee E stressed that the agency takes an active role in the coordination and helps to create transparency for the DGs. Hence, the active role of the agency supports the coordination among the parent DGs themselves and makes coordination as such rather smooth.

### 6.3.2. The CSC: Centralizing Services for the REA

In 2014, the CSC was set up for H2020 in order "to help coordinate and deliver the program" (European Commission<sup>2</sup>, p.13, 2013; interview H). The REA shares joint activities with three other EAs that implement parts of H2020. All EAs including their parent DGs and other H2020 bodies are part of the CSC. In short, the CSC underpins coordination work concerning H2020 through the centralisation of some services (European Commission, 2011; Interview F).

The CSC is composed of two bodies: a Steering Board (StB) and an Executive Committee. Since the Executive Committee is responsible for ensuring the implementation of CSC activities, it is not of concern for this study. The most important instrument of coordination in the CSC is the StB that oversees the former and is similar in its functions to the StC. Its primary role is to steer the activities of the CSC and "to decide on key strategic matters relating to Horizon 2020 implementation" (European Commission², p.18 2013). The StB "sets the main objectives and takes decisions on all matters in the remit of the CSC" (Interview F). The decisions made by the CSC are "directly applicable to all parent DGs and agencies" (Interview F).

Besides the StC, the StB represents a second entity that has a formal legal basis to ensure coordination work involving many DGs. It is composed of representatives from all parent DGs that are involved with H2020. The DG RTD represents the chair of the StB (European Commission<sup>2</sup>, 2013). At the operational level, the overall coordination is done by the Directorate of resources referred to as 'R' within the DG RTD and more precisely by the unit R4. This unit coordinates the activities of all the parent DGs and agencies related to H2020 in coordination meetings (European Commission<sup>2</sup>, 2015). These meetings "handle lower level matters" and do not infer with issues related to the delegated programs to the REA (Interview F).

In past years, there were few complaints about coordination by the research family. For instance, the legal interpretation between the different services was not the same (Interview E). With the CSC, such problems should remain in the past as centralisation aims to deliver the same service (European Commission<sup>8</sup>, 2013). Indeed, REA's evaluation reports show that it has achieved its objectives implying effective coordination among parent DGs to steer the agency (European Commission<sup>4</sup>, 2016).

In this concluding paragraph, I would like you to consider the difference between the StC and the StB. Although both seem to be similar to each other, they are distinctively different. It is important to reiterate that the StC forms the highest governing body on the institutional level whose decisions directly affect the agency in its entirety. The StB is a level below, so to say a middle management level, consisting of all parent DGs of the EAs implementing parts of H2020 centralizing some services that are of general concern.

#### 6.3.3. The Six Parents of the REA

Considering that the REA's principal activity is the implementation of parts of H2020, it appears self-evident that the DG RTD acts as the lead parent DG. In any case, the DG RTD has a global coordination role for the program and takes the lead whenever H2020 presents a dominant part of the implementing activities (European Commission<sup>7</sup>, 2014; European Commission<sup>5</sup>, 2015; Interview D, F). As a result, the DG RTD is characterized by policy lead (Interview F) and can further be named as 'primus inter pares' (Interview H). The dominance of the DG RTD can be reflected in terms of budget. It delegates the largest parts of H2020 and thus, most budget. Again, this is a dominance reflected in numbers. Similar to the other case study, the lead role of the DG RTD has historical reasons. Particularly this DG was one of the DGs that helped to set up the agency (Interview E, F).

The DG RTD manages most units in the REA as it delegates the largest parts of H2020 to the agency. Simultaneously to the DG EAC in the EACEA, this mirrors dominance concerning supervision responsibilities. The six parent DGs manage three departments and 14 units in the agency (Interview F). The REA has several units that are "dedicated to parts of a single large specific objective or activity" (Interview F). In principle, these are similar to mirror units because individual units in the agency coordinate with a corresponding service in a parent DG (Interview E). There is continuous bilateral coordination between the thematic parent DGs and the REA on the operational level (European

Commission<sup>2</sup>, 2015; European Commission<sup>5</sup>, 2015). Parent DGs interact with the agency on a daily basis regarding theme and program-specific issues.

Striking is that four among the six parent DGs joined in recent years. The DG GROW and the DG HOME became parents of the REA in 2015 (European Commission<sup>6</sup>, 2015). The DG HOME plays a minor role in REA's activities (Interview J, F). Further, the DG CNECT and the DG AGRI newly joined in 2014 (Interview D; Europa<sup>2</sup>, 2016). In the case of recently joined parent DGs, the coordination relation between the DGs and the agency might get affected. Interviewee D noted that in particular, the starting time for newly joined parent DG is likely to be a bit complicated as it includes changes for both sides. While the agency may not be familiar with the projects of the newly joined parent DGs, the DGs may not fully know how to work with the agency together (Interview D). It is apparent that this is different for DGs such as the DG EAC or the DG RTD since both DGs are more established and already work with the REA for several years (Interview D).

### 6.3.4. Memorandum of Understanding between the REA and the Parent DGs

Modalities of procedure and interaction between the REA and its parent DGs are determined in the MoU (European Commission<sup>2</sup>, 2008; European Commission<sup>2</sup>, 2015; Interview E, L). The MoU between the REA and its parent DGs is partitioned into two parts. The first part elucidates general provisions and interaction modalities between the agency and the parent DGs. Part two deals with the interaction modalities between the REA and the family of research DGs. Primary focus lays one the first part as it is the most relevant for this study.

The first part of the MoU defines coordination on the institutional and the operational level. On the institutional level, the parent DGs of the REA mutually coordinate the steering of the agency through their participation in the StC (European Commission<sup>7</sup>, 2013). The supervision of the delegated programs, therefore, involves all six parent DGs (European Commission<sup>2</sup>, 2008). Parent DGs assess the performance of the agency in the StC through the AAR and the evaluation report of the REA held against indicators stated in the agency's AWP (European Commission<sup>2</sup>, 2015). Coordination can be seen as an "intrinsic part of habitual planning mechanisms of the Commission, e.g. agreement on the AWPs of the DGs" (Interview G). The management of the DGs and the REA "steer their organization in view of these plans" to make sure that both units in the DGs and agency "work in phase" (Interview G). Furthermore, directors-general of the parent DGs may ask the REA for any

report that they consider necessary to scrutinize the agency (European Commission<sup>2</sup>, 2008). The reporting function enhances coordination and coherence among the involved actors. It is a priority of all the parent DGs "to improve the feedback of project related information into policy-making in line with the MoU" (Interview L). An efficient interplay of all involved actors is crucial for parent DGs to coordinate the steering of the agency jointly.

On the operational level, there are "parent DGs management meetings" and bilateral coordination meetings between the REA and the policy units in the parent DGs (European Commission², p.7, 2015, Interview G). The agency meets the parent DGs on a regular basis in the form of bilateral coordination meetings at the director level and contacts at working level (European Commission², 2015, Interview L). Especially, the director of the agency attends the weekly managers' meetings of the DG RTD. He or she can also join the other DG meetings when considered necessary. These meetings ensure smooth coordination (Interview L). Moreover, coordination meetings are complemented by "meetings related to programs/activities" (European Commission², p.7, 2015). For means of coordination and interaction, the agency is "invited to participate in relevant working groups of the parent DGs" (European Commission², p.8, 2008; Interview D, G). In a way, the agency is integrated into discussions on the operational level. Continuous feedback between the REA and the parent DGs is essential to adopt the AWP for the agency in the following year.

Part two of the MoU explicates "the interactions between the Agency and the Research and Innovation parent DGs" (European Commission², p.17, 2015). Interaction modalities are stated for the current H2020 program and some parts of the previous Seventh Framework Programme (FP7). Focus lays on H2020 as REA's main implementing activity. The REA is steered through decisions adopted by the StB. As previously examined, decisions are taken by all involved parent DGs of the research family on matters relating to H2020 not affecting issues discussed between the REA and its parents. Nevertheless, these coordination meetings "give a good opportunity to parent DGs and EAs to exchange views and provide feedback on their cooperation" (Interview L).

# 6.3.5. Steering Committee Compositions of the REA from 2008 - 2015

In the period from 2008 until 2015 there are four StC compositions (European Commission<sup>8</sup>, 2015; European Commission<sup>9</sup>, 2014; European Commission<sup>2</sup>, 2010; European Commission<sup>4</sup>, 2008). The dominance and leading role of the DG RTD are showcased in each of the four StC compositions. In 2008, the StC had three out of five representatives from the DG RTD and in 2010 two. This finding

of the DG RTD (Interview F). Hence, it can be reasoned that there is an increased number of members from the DG RTD in the StC composition of 2008 and 2010. Since the DG RTD is the leading parent, it holds the chair in the StC of the REA (Interview D, F). This, however, was decided consensually by all of REA's parents (Interview D). Interviewee D explained that all parent DGs were for the DG RTD because it holds the biggest interest in research and has the largest budget (Interview D).

Simultaneously to the other case study, members of the StC are identified by rang and position. From a hierarchical point of view, the lead parent DG RTD holds the highest rang by its representatives. It has in each composition a deputy director-general as official related to a particular delegated program in earlier years. In 2014 and 2015, the position holder seems to be linked to the management and policy of the current framework program. In cases where the DG RTD has more than one representative, the other member is a director responsible for resources within the DG. In comparative terms, other parent DGs commonly have a director of a thematic directorate within their DG as a representative in the StC.

Particularly notable is the composition of 2015 since the number of parent DGs increased to six yet StC members are limited to five. In the StC composition of 2015, each parent DG of the REA is represented except the DG HOME that is only granted observer status during the meetings. This StC composition should be seen in context with the newly delegated programs to the REA. These are spread among a multiplicity of parent DGs. It is worth to note that the StC of the REA is experienced as a consensus driven body in which parent DGs work smoothly together (Interview F, D, L). Based on the information given in legislative documents, in future, a rotating system may be installed to ensure equality among all the parent DGs. However, the Council Regulation 58/2003 does not provide information on how it is dealt with agencies that have more than five parent DGs concerning the decision-making process in the StC (Eur-Lex, 2016).

### 6.4. Summary

On the whole, this straightforward qualitative analysis has shown that main coordination differences between both agencies start to emerge on the operational level. While the operational level is rather an individual management matter, joint coordination of steering in the StC is prescribed by legal facts.

The main difference between the EACEA and REA lies in their programmatic structure. The REA has a simpler structure since it implements parts of one big program that has its own framework and rules. All its parent DGs are part of the research family DGs. In contrast, the EACEA implements four different delegated programs from four different parent DGs. Centralization of certain services for the EACEA is not appropriate since the delegated programs are much smaller and the diversity of actors "do not favor a common approach for the whole program" (Interview L).

### **Chapter Seven: Conclusions**

The last chapter of this study is divided into five sub-sections. First, it discusses the research findings and draws conclusions to answer the initial research question. Second, it addresses the theoretical implications followed by third, the practical implications. Fourth, it reflects on the limitations of this research and fifth, continues with avenues for future studies.

### 7.1. Discussion of the Research Findings

Prior work has documented the steering relation between agents and a single principal. Several scholars have reported that in reality, a multiplicity of steering actors has to be considered. It was furthermore highlighted that a greater mix of principals and agents in different contexts should be explored. Notwithstanding, studies have not explicitly studied how numerous principals jointly coordinate the steering of one agent within an EU setting. In this study, I investigated the steering relation of the EAs within an EU setting on the basis of the M-P model. More precisely, I analyzed how multiple DGs jointly coordinate the steering of the EU EAs based on the example of the EACEA and the REA. Most notably, this is the first study to my knowledge that scrutinizes the coordination of steering of the EU EAs by M-Ps. The central research question of this study was as follows:

"How do multiple principals jointly coordinate the steering of the EU executive agencies?"

I found that the answer to the research question is twofold. The analysis has shown that there are two different levels of coordination where the steering of the agent happens. On the institutional level, parent DGs multilaterally govern the agency through their membership in the StC. The StC is the highest institutional governing and supervising body by legislation in which parent DGs jointly coordinate themselves together to steer the agency. To steer the agency, parent DGs evaluate general reports and more precisely, assess the annual performance indicators of the agency given the

information in the AAR and AWP. Parent DGs collectively review the performance of the agency and make strategic management decisions with the director of the agency in the StC. Reporting and supervision mechanisms are, therefore, indispensable for the effective coordination of steering by M-Ps. It turned out, the DGs have to coordinate closely with each other and maintain close collaboration with the agency to achieve their individual political and policy objectives. Cooperatively made decisions in the StC affect the entire agency. The former are made by unanimity similar to a consensus governance model. To date, the parent DGs of the EACEA and the REA purposefully renounced of the usage of votes in the StC what exemplifies a rather collegial relation among DGs. Although there is one leading parent DG in the coordination process the StC is in its essence democratic and all parent DGs are equal among each other.

On the operational level, parent DGs bilaterally coordinate with the agency. Each thematic parent DG steers the agency through monitoring mechanisms related to the individual delegated program. Steering happens through the reporting process and regular coordination meetings in which the agency has to provide accurate information concerning performance indicators of the delegated program. Both the EACEA and the REA are well steered through the supervision and monitoring functions of the parent DGs. In particular, the cooperation modalities between parent DGs and the agency written in the MoU prescribe regular bilateral coordinating meetings on the operational and working level. Despite the fact that the EU EAs are autonomous entities, the agency collaborates continuously and intensively with the parent DGs that are involved in managing the program of the agency on a bilateral basis. Reciprocal, the agency and DGs work smoothly together to reach their goal. It appears the coordination of steering on the operational level is more a bilateral management matter between the DGs and the agency focused on a particular program between both agencies and DGs. Hence, differences start to emerge in the case of the EACEA and the REA.

The main difference lies in the programmatic structure of the agencies. Parent DGs of the EACEA each delegate a different program to the agency. In contrast, parent DGs of the REA delegate parts of the same program to the agency. While all parent DGs of the REA belong to the so-called research family of DGs, the parent DGs of the EACEA represent a mixed group of DGs. In the case of the EACEA, each unit in the agency has a mirror unit in the parent DG whereas the REA has several units that are dedicated to parts or a single activity. In principle, these are similar to mirror units. As a corollary, it has to be considered that each of the EU EAs was set-up to serve a specific purpose what is also reflected in their institutional design and establishment acts. For this reason, the joint

coordination features on the highest, institutional level remain very similar prescribed by legal facts yet there are differences on the operational level. Since the REA implements parts of a program that has its own rules and framework, the coordination among the principals is more harmonized and all principals follow a common approach opposed to the EACEA. Notwithstanding, these differences of the two cases influence the coordination between the principals not significantly as both agencies further, follow similar rules of procedure set out in the MoU. It comes naturally that both agencies follow somewhat different management matters on the operational level as they respond to the nature of their delegated program for whose purpose they were set up.

At the beginning of this study, I believed that there is a high risk of agency capture and thus, the absence of principals and effective steering. However, I made the surprising observation that this was not the case. The findings of my study extend earlier work, contradicting the assumption of interest and preference conflicts among principals that possibly results in ineffective steering (Waterman and Meier, 1998; Slyke, 2006; Caers et al., 2006; Waterman and Wood, 1991; Van Thiel, 2015). Results of this study indicate that the coordination of steering of agents by M-Ps can be rather smooth and network based than conflictual. There is evidence that both agencies seem to have a pro-organizational behavior. The cooperation between the agents and principals can be described as smooth and collegial. Possibly, a similar sentiment can be seen across a wider range of agencies, principals, and contexts. Also, there was no information asymmetry which the agents used for their self-interest. My results provide compelling evidence that M-Ps can steer agents consensual. Given the results of this study, I find that the M-P model is not suitable.

In the context of this study, it seems that the peculiarity of an EU setting has a significant impact on the consensual joint coordination of steering of the EU EAs by M-Ps. It can be observed that both the Commission and the EAs have a common interest to support each other in reaching the desired goal that is the implementation of the EC policy programs. This main goal has two interrelated components: the policy and implementation side. The DGs and EAs can only reach the main goal together as DGs are responsible for the policy objectives and the EU EAs for the project implementation. Hence, the success of the delegated program appears to be of similar importance to both the agency and parent DGs. Both the EAs and the DGs are interdependent from each other. One the one hand, the DGs need the EAs to fulfill tasks that they are not capable of doing themselves. On the other hand, the EAs are dependent upon the Commission as she establishes, dissolves and delegates programs to the agencies. Strikingly, the EAs came into being to serve and assist the

Commission (Zonneveld, 2015; Costa and Brack, 2014; Nugent, 2010; Lelieveldt and Princen, 2015). The organizational practices, therefore, lead to goal convergence instead of favoring individual interests. On a similar note, such an institutional setting is more likely to create trust between principal and agent due to goal convergence (Davies et al., 1997; Sundaramurthy and Lewis, 2003; Slyke, 2006). For this reason, the joint coordination of steering of the EU EAs can be seen from a stewardship perspective. Against the background of the findings of this study, I would like to indicate corresponding theoretical implications that are worth noting in the next sub-section.

### 7.2. Theoretical Implications

The study has shown that the coordination of steering is a very complex and dynamic process with frequent interplay by multiple steering actors. The M-P approach was used to investigate the coordination of steering of the EU EAs by M-Ps. Despite its conceptualization of numerous steering actors, it is not applicable for this study. In part, this is due to the peculiar EU institutional setting and the intrinsic organizational practices to which the EU EAs are subjected as previously indicated. The DGs and the EAs are interdependent to each other in reaching their goals and thus, are built on goal and interest alignment. The agencies need the DGs and the DGs need the agencies. Strikingly, the agency pushes voluntarily program related information to DGs in cases where it appears necessary. In line with the assumptions of the stewardship theory, the findings noted in my study indicate that the agency acts in a way that it perceives to be in the interest of the parent DGs. In view of this, I would, therefore, suggest rather use the stewardship theory. It appears to provide better insight in explaining the coordination of steering in the context of the EU EAs. However, a weakness of stewardship theory is that it does not consider explicitly M-Ps and remains largely untested. Besides, the current state of research has not paid particular attention to M-Ps and stewardship theory with the peculiarities of an EU setting.

### 7.3. Practical Implications

The research findings have some practical implications for the social and political world. The EU agencies have become a "characteristic feature of Europe's administrative space" (Groenleer, 2009, p.22). In particular, the administrative decentralization to the EU RAs has caused a series of problems in terms of oversight by the institutional bodies of the EU and lead to accountability deficits and thus, flawed P-A relations (Bovens, 2007). In contrast, the EU EAs appear to adopt a pro-organizational

behavior and smoothly collaborate with the principals. The EU EAs distinctive features of autonomy and dependence hamper self-interested organizational behavior and thus, reinforce collaboration between the principal and agent.

The normative implication is, therefore, to work towards the creation of governmental structures that embed P-A relations with regard to shared organizational goals. To increase the efficiency of the public sector, it could be helpful to have a main oversight institution that sets general guidelines for the terms of cooperation between the principal and agent. In the case of the EU EAs, there are numerous DGs as control asserting actors yet the Commission is the main oversight institution. Another practical implication is to copy this oversight model. I advise organizations, governments and institutions to execute control through numerous working departments of the main organization. These should be in the need to work with the agent to achieve a common main goal of the organization. In addition, contracts for agents should not only be fixed for a limited period but the main organisation and its working departments should regularly evaluate the work of the agent on the basis of performance indicators. In cases where the agent does not reach its objectives, the services should possibly be dissolved. If only the goal achievement of the principal and agent is interconnected and both truly need each other to reach their individual goal, trust structures and smooth collaboration can be established. To benefit from the findings in the real world, the practical implication is to work towards goal alignment in P-A relations in countries, areas in the world that lack such a system.

#### 7.4. Research Limitations

This study encountered four research limitations. Most prominently, the first shortcoming is that the analysis was subjected to two case studies due to length restrictions. This lowers the general applicability of the results. A second shortcoming, therefore, is that I was not able to capture what happens behind closed doors. Interviewees highlighted that there are informal coordination meetings by the members of the StC prior to the initial committee meetings. Thus, there is information to which I did not have access. Third, I encountered limitations in the data collection process. I had to be persistent to arrange in-depth interviews with the main players in the field. Although I held in-depth interviews with nine key players, the number of interviewees could be higher in view of the various involved actors. Fourth, to increase the reliability of the study I aimed cross-checked the obtained information from the in-depth interviews. However, from nine in-depth interviewes I cross-checked again with six interviewees. It is hard to rearrange a cross-checking as not all interviewees were again

available. In any case, I hope that this study will contribute to existing academia by offering more insights into the less extensively reported process of the coordination of steering of the EU EAs by M-Ps within the greater field of agency research.

#### 7.4. Recommendations for Future Research

Future work should follow-up four recommendations. First, the results of this study are surprising and therefore should be validated by expanding the number of case studies. Such results can serve as a basis to draw comparative research results and to generalize the findings. A higher number of indepth case studies will contribute to a more general picture how multiple DGs jointly coordinate the steering. Besides, this will serve as a basis to draw similarities and differences among all six EAs. Second, this study provides the framework for future studies to investigate the coordination of steering by M-Ps with different models. I, therefore, advise that future work should further explore and expand the stewardship theory with numerous steering actors and validate this approach. A third useful continuance of this study could be to apply a different research design and to use other data. I would recommend using a qualitative ethnographic approach over a longer period. That allows for observations that otherwise may remain hidden. Furthermore, this method helps to capture in-depth how the coordination of steering happens. Another recommendation for further study is fourth to incorporate a set of different principals and contexts. It would be interesting to test the effectiveness of their steering in different environments under different conditions. These findings conceivably help to establish a model that grasps conditions and circumstances under which M-Ps effectively steer agents.

#### References

#### Atanassov, N.

(2015). European Parliamentary Research Service. Accountability of EU Regulatory Agencies. Retrieved, 25.11.2015 from <a href="http://epthinktank.eu/2015/03/03/accountability-of-euregulatory-agencies/">http://epthinktank.eu/2015/03/03/accountability-of-euregulatory-agencies/</a>

## Barbieri, D., Ongaro, E.

(2008). EU agencies: what is common and what is distinctive compared with national-level public agencies. In *International Review of Administrative Sciences*, Vol 74 (3), pp. 395 – 420.

## Barkow, R. E.

(2010). Insulating Agencies: Avoiding Capture Through Institutional Design. New York University Public Law and Legal Theory Working Papers. Paper 240. Retrieved May 18<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://lsr.nellco.org/nyu\_plltwp/240">http://lsr.nellco.org/nyu\_plltwp/240</a>

## Bertelli, A.

(2012). The Political Economy of Public Sector Governance. [Chapter 2]. Published by: Cambridge University Press.

#### Bovens, M.

(2007). Analysing and Assessing Accountability: A Conceptual Framework1, European Law Journal, Volume 13, No.4, pp. 447–468.

### Braun, D., Guston, D.H.

(2003). Principal-agent theory and research policy: an introduction. In *Science and Public Policy*, Vol 30 (5), pp. 302-320.

### Brown, S. A.

(2016). The European Commission and Europe's Democratic Process. Why the EU's Executive Faces an Uncertain Future. Resource Pressures and Commission Externalisation [Chapter Six]. Published by: Springer Nature (Palgrave MacMillan imprint).

### Busuioc, M.

(2012). European agencies and their boards: promises and pitfalls of accountability beyond design. In *Journal of European Public Policy*, Vol 19 (5), pp. 719–736.

#### Busuioc, M.

(2009). Accountability, Control and Independence: The Case of European Agencies. In *European Law Journal*, Volume 15 (5), pp. 599–615.

#### Bowie, N.E., Freeman, R.E.

(1992). Ethics and Agency Theory (Eds.). Published by: Oxford University Press.

Caers, R., Du Bois, C., Jegers, M., De Gieter, S., Schepers, C. Pepermans, R. (2006). Principal-agent relationships on the stewardship-agency axis. In *Journal of Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, Vol 17 (1), pp. 25-47.

#### Chamon, M.

(2016). EU Agencies: Legal and Political Limits to the Transformation of the EU Administration. Published by: Oxford University Press.

### Christensen, T., Laegreid, P.

(2007). Regulatory Agencies—The Challenges of Balancing Agency Autonomy and Political Control. Published in the Journal of Governance, Vol 20 (3), pp. 499-520.

# Costa, O., Brack, N.

(2014). How the EU Really Works. Chapter Six, The Other Organs involved in EU Policy Making. Published by: Routledge.

#### Court of Auditors.

(2009). Special Report No 14 2009. Delegating Implementing Tasks to EA's: A Successful Option?

### Curtin, D., Groenleer, M., Busuioc, M.

(2011). Agency Growth Between Autonomy and Accountability: The European Police Office as a "Living Institution". In *Journal of European Public Policy*, Vol. 18(6), pp. 848-867.

### Damro, C.

(2001). Capture and Control: The Institutional Dynamics of EU Regulatory Independence. Retrieved March 16<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://aei.pitt.edu/2071/1/001597">http://aei.pitt.edu/2071/1/001597</a> 1.PDF

### Davis, H.J., Schoorman, D. F., Donaldson, L.

(1997). Toward a Stewardship Theory of Management. In Academy of Management Review, Vol. 22 (1), pp. 20-47.

#### Dehousse, R.

(2008) 'Delegation of powers in the European Union: the need for a multi-principals model', In West European Politics, Vol31(4), pp. 789–805.

### Dehousse, R.

(1997). Regulation by networks in the European Community: the role of European agencies. In *Journal of European Public Policy*, Vol 4 (2), pp. 246-261.

# Eisenhardt, K. M.

(1989). Agency theory: An assessment and review. In *Academy of Management Review*, Vol 14, pp. 57–74.

#### Elgie, R

(2002), "The politics of the European Central Bank: principal—agent theory and the democratic deficit". In *Journal of European Public Policy*, Vol 9(2), pp. 186–200.

### Elston, T.

(2014). 'Developments in UK Executive Agencies: Re-examining the "Disaggregation-Reaggregation" Thesis', In *Public Policy and Administration*, Vol 28 (1), pp. 66–89.

#### Eur-lex.

(2016). Council Regulation (EC) No 58/2003 of 19 December 2002 laying down the statute for executive agencies to be entrusted with certain tasks in the management of Community programmes. Retrieved April 17<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A32003R0058">http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A32003R0058</a>

#### Eur-Lex<sup>2</sup>.

(2016). Commission Regulation (EC) No 651/2008 of 9 July 2008 amending Regulation (EC) No 1653/2004 on a standard financial regulation for the executive agencies pursuant to Council Regulation (EC) No 58/2003 laying down the statute for executive agencies to be entrusted with certain tasks in the management of Community programmes. Retrieved 17<sup>th</sup> of April 2016 from <a href="http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A32008R0651">http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A32008R0651</a>

#### Eur-Lex<sup>3</sup>.

(2016). Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council. Com (2008) 135 final. European Agencies – The way forward {SEC(2008) 323}.

### Eur-Lex<sup>4</sup>.

(2016). Commission Decision of 13 November 2014 on the Early Warning System to be used by authorising officers of the Commission and by the executive agencies 2014/792/EU. Retrieved April 3<sup>th</sup> 2016 from http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A32014D0792

#### Eur-Lex.

(2015). Statement of revenue and expenditure of the Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency for the financial year 2015 (2015/C 110/18). Retrieved May 2<sup>nd</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://eurlex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32015B0331%2818%29&from=EN">http://eurlex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32015B0331%2818%29&from=EN</a>

#### Eur-Lex.

(2014). Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency. <a href="http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=uriserv:cu0004">http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=uriserv:cu0004</a>

#### Eur-Lex.

(2008). Commission Decision of 14 December 2007 setting up the Research Executive Agency for the management of certain areas of the specific Community programmes People, Capacities and Cooperation in the field of research in application of Council Regulation (EC) No 58/2003 (Text with EEA relevance). Retrieved May 1<sup>st</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2008:114:0088:0089:EN:PDF">http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2008:114:0088:0089:EN:PDF</a>

#### Eurofund.

(2011). EurWork. European Observatory of Working Life. Supremacy of EU law. Retrieved July 19<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://www.eurofound.europa.eu/observatories/eurwork/industrial-relations-dictionary/supremacy-of-eu-law">http://www.eurofound.europa.eu/observatories/eurwork/industrial-relations-dictionary/supremacy-of-eu-law</a>

### Europa.

(2016). Education Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency. Retrieved February 20<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://europa.eu/about-eu/agencies/executive\_agencies/execut

# Europa<sup>2</sup>.

(2016). Research Executive Agency. Retrieved February 20<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://europa.eu/about-eu/agencies/executive\_agencies/rea/index\_en.htm">http://europa.eu/about-eu/agencies/executive\_agencies/rea/index\_en.htm</a>

### Europa<sup>3</sup>.

(2016). Executive Agency for Small and Medium-sized enterprises, retrieved June10<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://europa.eu/about-eu/agencies/executive\_agencies/easme/index\_en.htm">http://europa.eu/about-eu/agencies/executive\_agencies/easme/index\_en.htm</a>

# Europa<sup>4</sup>.

(2016). Organizational Set up Directorate-General Education and Culture. Retrieved June 27<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/education\_culture/docs/organisation\_en.pdf">http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/education\_culture/docs/organisation\_en.pdf</a>

### European Commission.

(2016). The Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency (EACEA). About EACEA. Retrieved 17<sup>th</sup> of April 2016 from <a href="http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/about-eacea.en">http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/about-eacea.en</a>

# European Commission<sup>2</sup>.

(2016). Research Executive Agency (REA). About us. Retrieved May 1<sup>st</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://ec.europa.eu/rea/about us/index-en.htm">http://ec.europa.eu/rea/about us/index-en.htm</a>

# European Commission<sup>3</sup>.

(2016). Research Executive Agency (REA). Activities. Budget. Retrieved May 2<sup>nd</sup> 2016 from http://ec.europa.eu/rea/about\_us/activities/budget/index\_en.htm

### European Commission<sup>4</sup>.

(2016). Evaluation of the Operation of REA (2012-2015). Directorate-General for Research and Innovation. Directorate R – Resources Unit R4 – New Management Modes. Retrieved June 8th 2016 from <a href="https://ec.europa.eu/research/evaluations/pdf/archive/other-reports-studies-and-documents/rea\_evaluation\_annexes.pdf">https://ec.europa.eu/research/evaluations/pdf/archive/other-reports-studies-and-documents/rea\_evaluation\_annexes.pdf</a>

# European Commission<sup>5</sup>.

(2016). Research Executive Agency. About us. Retrieved June 12<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://ec.europa.eu/rea/about us/index en.htm">http://ec.europa.eu/rea/about us/index en.htm</a>

# European Commission<sup>6</sup>.

(2016). Multiannual Financial Framework. Budget. Programmes. Retrieved June 13<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://ec.europa.eu/budget/mff/programmes/index">http://ec.europa.eu/budget/mff/programmes/index</a> en.cfm#creative

#### European Commission<sup>7</sup>.

(2016). Horizon 2020. EU Framework Programme for Research and Innovation. Retrieved June 13<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="https://ec.europa.eu/programmes/horizon2020/en/what-horizon-2020">https://ec.europa.eu/programmes/horizon2020/en/what-horizon-2020</a>

# European Commission<sup>8</sup>.

(2016). Research Executive Agency. About us – Governance and Legal Base. Retrieved 24<sup>th</sup> June 2016 from <a href="http://ec.europa.eu/rea/about\_us/governance/index\_en.htm">http://ec.europa.eu/rea/about\_us/governance/index\_en.htm</a>

# European Commission<sup>9</sup>.

(2016). Research Executive Agency. Jobs – Working for the REA. Retrieved June 24<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://ec.europa.eu/rea/jobs/index\_en.htm">http://ec.europa.eu/rea/jobs/index\_en.htm</a>

# European Commission<sup>10</sup>.

(2016). Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency. Working for EACEA. Retrieved June 24<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/about-eacea/working-for-eacea/call-for-expression-interest-ref-eacea20141-ca-fgiv-legal-adviser-en">http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/about-eacea/working-for-eacea/call-for-expression-interest-ref-eacea20141-ca-fgiv-legal-adviser-en</a>

# European Commission<sup>11</sup>.

(2016). European Commission. About the European Commission. Retrieved July 19<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://ec.europa.eu/about/index\_en.htm">http://ec.europa.eu/about/index\_en.htm</a>

### European Commission.

(2015). General Memorandum of Understanding between the EACEA and its parent DGs. Modalities and Procedures of Interaction. Ref. Ares(2015)1333575.

## European Commission<sup>2</sup>.

(2015). Memorandum of Understanding between the REA and DG RTD, DG EAC, DG CNECT, DG AGRI, DG GROW and DG HOME. Modalities of Procedures and interaction. Ref. Ares (2016)664704.

### European Commission<sup>3</sup>.

(2015). Annual Work Programme 2015 Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency. Retrieved 20<sup>th</sup> of April 2016 from <a href="https://eacea.ec.europa.eu/sites/eacea-site/files/eacea mp 2015.pdf">https://eacea.ec.europa.eu/sites/eacea-site/files/eacea mp 2015.pdf</a>

### European Commission<sup>4</sup>.

(2015). Commission Decision C(2015) 758 final of 16.02.2015 on appointing the members and observers of the Steering committee of the Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency

### European Commission<sup>5</sup>.

(2015). Annual Activity Report 2014 Final report Directorate-General for Agriculture and Rural Development. Retrieved May 2<sup>nd</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://ec.europa.eu/atwork/synthesis/aar/doc/agri aar 2014.pdf">http://ec.europa.eu/atwork/synthesis/aar/doc/agri aar 2014.pdf</a>

### European Commission<sup>6</sup>.

(2015). Annual Activity Report 2014 Research Executive Agency Ref. Ares(2015)1420146 Retrieved April 5<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://ec.europa.eu/rea/pdf/rea">http://ec.europa.eu/rea/pdf/rea</a> aar 2014 ares en.pdf

## European Commission<sup>7</sup>.

(2015). Annual Activity Report 2014 of the Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency. Retrieved May 19<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="https://eacea.ec.europa.eu/sites/eacea-site/files/eacea-aar-2014.pdf">https://eacea.ec.europa.eu/sites/eacea-site/files/eacea-aar-2014.pdf</a>

## European Commission<sup>8</sup>.

(2015). Commission Decision C(2015) 2347 final of 13.04.2015 appointing members and observers of the Steering Committee of the Research Executive Agency pursuant to Council Regulation (EC) No 58/2003.

# European Commission.

(2014). Commission Decision of 13 November 2014 on the Early Warning System to be used by authorising officers of the Commission and by the executive agencies (2014/792/EU).

### European Commission<sup>2</sup>.

(2014). Annual Activity Report. DG Education and Culture. Ref. Ares(2014)978408. Retrieved March 28<sup>th</sup> from <a href="http://ec.europa.eu/atwork/synthesis/aar/doc/eac aar 2013.pdf">http://ec.europa.eu/atwork/synthesis/aar/doc/eac aar 2013.pdf</a>

## European Commission<sup>3</sup>.

(2014). Commission Decision C(2014)9109 of 02/12/2014 establishing guidelines for the establishment and operation of executive agencies financed from the Union budget.

# European Commission<sup>5</sup>.

(2014). Annual Activity Report 2013 DG Education and Culture. Retrieved March 16<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://ec.europa.eu/atwork/synthesis/aar/doc/eac\_aar\_2013.pdf">http://ec.europa.eu/atwork/synthesis/aar/doc/eac\_aar\_2013.pdf</a>

## European Commission<sup>6</sup>.

(2014). Commission Decision C(2014) 349 final of 29.01.2014 on appointing the members of the Steering committee of the Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency.

## European Commission<sup>7</sup>.

(2014). Annual Activity Report 2013 Directorate-General for Research and Innovation. Ref. Ares (2014) 1000022. Retrieved April 17<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://ec.europa.eu/atwork/synthesis/aar/doc/rtd">http://ec.europa.eu/atwork/synthesis/aar/doc/rtd</a> aar 2013.pdf

## European Commission<sup>9</sup>.

(2014). Commission Decision C(2014) 433 final of 31.01.2014 appointing the five members and one observer of the Steering Committee of the Research Executive Agency and repealing Decision C(2010)5194.

#### European Commission.

(2013). How the European Union works. The European Union explained. Your Guide to the EU Institutions. Retrieved 6<sup>th</sup> of March 2016 from <a href="http://www.gr2014parliament.eu/Portals/6/PDFFILES/NA0113090ENC 002.pdf">http://www.gr2014parliament.eu/Portals/6/PDFFILES/NA0113090ENC 002.pdf</a>

#### European Commission<sup>2</sup>.

(2013). Communication to the Commission on the delegation of the management of the 2014-2020 programmes to executive agencies. SEC(2013) 493 final. Retrieved April 17<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://edz.bib.uni-mannheim.de/edz/pdf/sek/2013/sek-2013-0493-en.pdf">http://edz.bib.uni-mannheim.de/edz/pdf/sek/2013/sek-2013-0493-en.pdf</a>

#### European Commission<sup>3</sup>.

(2013). Commission Decision C(2013)9189 final delegating powers to the EACEA with a view to performance of tasks linked to implementation of Union programmes in the fields of education, audiovisual and culture comprising, in particular, implementation of appropriations entered in the general budget of the Union and the EDF allocations. Retrieved April May 1<sup>st</sup> 2016

http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/about/documents/2014 Delegation Act EN C 2013 9189.pdf

## European Commission<sup>4</sup>.

(2013). Commission Implementing Decision of 18 December 2013 establishing the 'Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency' and repealing Decision 2009/336/EC (2013/776/EU).

# European Commission<sup>5</sup>.

(2013). Commission Implementing Decision (2013/778/EU) of December 2013 establishing the Research Executive Agency and repealing Decision 2008/46/EC.

## European Commission<sup>6</sup>.

(2013). Annual Activity Report 2012 Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency. Retrieved April 3<sup>rd</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/about/documents/plan gestion report activity/eacea aar 2012.pdf">http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/about/documents/plan gestion report activity/eacea aar 2012.pdf</a>

# European Commission<sup>7</sup>.

(2013). Annual Activity Report 2013 EACEA Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency. Retrieved 14<sup>th</sup> of April 2016 from. <a href="https://eacea.ec.europa.eu/sites/eacea-site/files/aar-2013-eacea-finalweb.pdf">https://eacea.ec.europa.eu/sites/eacea-site/files/aar-2013-eacea-finalweb.pdf</a>

### European Commission<sup>8</sup>.

(2013). Annual Activity Report Directorate-General Communications, Networks, Content and Technology. Retrieved April 14<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://ec.europa.eu/atwork/synthesis/aar/doc/cnect\_aar\_2013.pdf">http://ec.europa.eu/atwork/synthesis/aar/doc/cnect\_aar\_2013.pdf</a>

### European Commission.

(2012). Annual Activity Report Research Executive Agency 2012. Retrieved April 14<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://ec.europa.eu/rea/pdf/rea annual activity report 2012 en.pdf">http://ec.europa.eu/rea/pdf/rea annual activity report 2012 en.pdf</a>

#### European Commission.

(2011). Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, The European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. Com (2011) 808 final. Horizon 2020 – The Framework Programme for Research and Innovation.

### European Commission<sup>2</sup>.

(2011). Commission Decision C(2011) 8711 final of 1.12.2011 on modifying Commission Decision C (2011) 1858 appointing the members of the Steering committee of the Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency.

# European Commission<sup>3</sup>.

(2011). Commission Decision C(2011) 1858 final of 31.03.2011 on appointing the members of the Steering committee of the Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency.

### European Commission.

(2010). Commission Decision C(2010)4204 final of 25.6.2010 modifying Commission Decision C(2009) 3231 appointing the members of the Steering Committee of the Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency.

# European Commission<sup>2</sup>.

(2010). Draft Commission Decision C(2010) XXX of appointing five members and three observers of the Steering Committee of the Research Executive Agency and repealing decision C(2008) 3345 of 8/VII/2008.

# European Commission.

(2009). Commission of the European Communities. Commission Decision C(2009) 3355 of 6 May 2009. <a href="http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/about/documents/AD2009\_en.pdf">http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/about/documents/AD2009\_en.pdf</a>

## European Commission<sup>2</sup>.

(2009). Commission Decision C(2009) 3231 final of 5.5.2009 appointing the members of the Steering Committee of the Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency.

## European Commission.

(2008). Press Release Database. European agencies – The way forward. Retrieved April 16<sup>th</sup> from <a href="http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release\_MEMO-08-159\_en.htm">http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release\_MEMO-08-159\_en.htm</a>

## European Commission<sup>2</sup>.

(2008). C (2008) 3980 final Commission Decision of 31/VII/2008 delegating powers to the REA with a view to performance of tasks linked to implementation of the specific Community programmes People, Capacities and Cooperation in the field of research comprising, in particular, implementation of appropriations entered in the Community budget. Retrieved May 2<sup>nd</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://ec.europa.eu/rea/pdf/c-2008-3980">http://ec.europa.eu/rea/pdf/c-2008-3980</a> delegation act en.pdf

## European Commission<sup>3</sup>.

(2008). Commission Decision (2008/46/EC) of 14 December 2007 setting up the 'Research Executive Agency' for the management of certain areas of the specific Community programmes People, Capacities and Cooperation in the field of research in application of Council Regulation (EC) No 58/2003 (Text with EEA relevance).

### European Commission<sup>4</sup>.

(2008). Commission Decision C(2008) XXX final appointing the five members and two observers of the Steering Committee of the Research Executive Agency.

#### European Commission.

(2007). Commission Decision C(2007) XXX appointing the members of the Steering Committee of the Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency.

#### European Commission.

(2006). Commission Decision amending Decision C (2005) 365/1 final appointing the members of the Steering Committee of the Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency.

### European Commission.

(2005). Commission staff working document - Guidelines for the appointment of heads of Community agencies {COM(2005) 190 final} /\* SEC/2005/0625 \*. Retrieved 15<sup>th</sup> of April 2016 from <a href="http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A52005SC0625">http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A52005SC0625</a>

### European Commission<sup>2</sup>.

(2005). Commission staff working paper - A gap assessment between the internal control framework in the Commission Services and the control principles set out in the Court of Auditors 'proposal for a Community internal control framework' opinion No 2/2004.

# European Commission<sup>3</sup>.

(2005). Commission Decision of 14 January 2005 setting up the Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency for the management of Community action in the fields of education, audiovisual and culture in application of Council Regulation (EC) No 58/2003.

### European Commission.

(2002). The operating framework for the European Regulatory Agencies. COM(2002) 718 final. Retrieved April 17<sup>th</sup> from <a href="http://ec.europa.eu/governance/docs/comm\_agence\_en.pdf">http://ec.europa.eu/governance/docs/comm\_agence\_en.pdf</a>

### European Union.

(2013). Ecorys Second Interim Evaluation of the Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency (EACEA). European Union. Retrieved April 19<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/education\_culture/more\_info/evaluations/docs/general/eacea2013-annexes\_en.pdf">http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/education\_culture/more\_info/evaluations/docs/general/eacea2013-annexes\_en.pdf</a>

#### Gailmard, S.

(2009). Multiple Principals and Oversight of Bureaucratic Policy-Making. In *Journal of Theoretical Politics*, Vol 21 (2), pp. 161-186.

#### Gschwend, T., Schimmelfennig, F.

(2007). Research Design in Political Science: How to Practice what they Preach. Published by: Palgrave MacMillan.

### Groenleer, M., Versluis, E., & Kaeding, M.

(2010). Regulatory governance through agencies of the European Union? The role of the European agencies for maritime and aviation safety in the implementation of European transport legislation. In *Journal of European Public Policy*, pp. 1212-1230.

### Groenleer, M.

(2009). The Autonomy of European Union Agencies. A Comparative Study on Institutional Development. Published: Delft, Eburon Uitgeverij B.V.

Harrison, A.

(1993). From Hierarchy to Contract. Reshaping the Public Sector Volume 7. Policy Journals. Transaction Books New Brunswick (USA) and Oxford (UK). Published in the UK and USA: by Policy Journals and Transaction Books.

Helpman, E., Dixit, A., Grossman, M. (1997).

Common Agency and Coordination: General Theory and Application to Government Policy Making. In *Journal of Political Economy*, Vol 105 (4), pp. 752 – 769.

Hix, N. and Hoyland, S.

(2005). The Political System of the European Union, 2nd edition, Palgrave Macmillan, Houndsmills, Basingstoke. [Chapter 2]

Hood, C.

(1991). A public management for all seasons? In Public administration, Vol 69(1), pp. 3-19.

Hyndman, N.S., Eden, R.

(2000). A study of the coordination of mission, objectives and targets in U.K. executive agencies. In *Journal of Management Accounting Research*, Vol 11, pp. 175–191.

Jensen, M. C., Meckling, W. H.

(1976). Theory of the Firm: Managerial Behavior, Agency Cost and Ownership Structure. In *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol 3, pp. 305–360.

Johnson, B. J., Reynolds, H.T., Mycoff, J.D.

(2015). Political Science Research Methods. Published by: CQ Press.

Keleman, R.D.

(2002). The Politics of 'Eurocratic' Structure and the New European Agencies. In West European Politics, Vol.25 (4), pp.93–118.

Kraakman, D. R., Armous, J., Hansman, H. B.

(2009). The Anatomy of Corporate Law: A Comparative and functional Approach. Second Edition. [Chapter 2]. Published by: Oxford University Press.

Laegreid, P., & Verhoest, K.

(2010). Governance of Public Sector Organizations. Proliferation, Autonomy and Performance. Governance and Public Management Series. Published by: Palgrave MacMillan

Lane, J.E.,

(2005). Public Administration and Public Management. The principal-agent perspective [Chapter 1,2,3,4]. Published by: Routledge.

Lelieveldt, H., Princen, S.

(2015). The Politics of the European Union (2<sup>nd</sup> Ed.) [Chapter 11]. Published by: Cambridge University Press.

Mack, N., Woodsong, C., MacQueen, K.M., Guest, G. Namey, E.

(2005). Qualitative Research Methods: A Data Collector's Field Guide. Published by: Family Health International.

# Maggetti, M.

(2010). Legitimacy and Accountability of Independent Regulatory Agencies: A Critical Review, In *Living Reviews in Democracy*, Vol 2, pp. 1-9.

Meier, K.J., & Bohte, J.

(2000). Inside the Bureaucracy: Principals, Agents and Bureaucratic Strategy, pp. 1-42. Retrieved February 2<sup>nd</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://teep.tamu.edu/pubs/cheating2.pdf">http://teep.tamu.edu/pubs/cheating2.pdf</a>

Meyer, B. C.

(2001). A Case in Case Study Methodology. In Field Methods, Vol 13 (4), pp. 329 – 352.

Miller, G. J.

(2005). The Political Evolution of Principal–Agency Models. In *Annual Review of Political Science*, Vol 8, pp. 203–25.

Mitnick, B. M.

(1973). Fiduciary Rationality and Public Policy: The Theory of Agency and Some Consequences. Paper presented at the 1973 annual meeting of the American Political Science Association, New Orleans.

Moe T.M.

(1987). An Assessment of the Positive Theory of "Congressional Dominance". In Legislative Studies Quarterly, Vol 12(4), pp. 475–520.

Moss, D.A., Carpenter, C.

(2014). Preventing Regulatory Capture: Special Interest Influence and How to Limit it [Chapter 9 and 10]. Published by: Cambridge University Press.

McCormick, J.

(2015). European Union Politics 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition. Chapter 14: Specialized Agencies. Published by: Palgrave MacMillan.

Nugent, N.

(2010). The Government and Politics of the European Union. Published by: Palgrave MacMillan.

Pavan, A., Calzolar, G.

(2009). Sequential contracting with multiple principals. In *Journal of Economic Theory*, Vol 144, pp. 503–531.

- Peters, G.B.
  - (2001). The Politics of Bureaucracy. Published by: Routledge.
- Perrow, C.

(1986). Complex Organizations: A Critical Essay. New York: Random House.

Pollitt, C., Batgate, K., Caulfield, J, Smullen, A., & Talbot, C. (2007).

Agency fever? Analysis of an international policy fashion. Journal of Comparative Policy Analysis: Research and Practice. Retrieved, November 12<sup>th</sup> 2015 from, <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13876980108412663">http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13876980108412663</a>

- Pollitt, C.
  - (2006). Performance Management in Practice: A Comparative Study of Executive Agencies. In *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, pp. 25-40.
- Pollitt, C., Talbot, C., Caulfield, J., Smullen, A. (2004). Agencies: Arm's-Length Government within Easy Reach? Agencies: How Governments Do Things through Semi-Autonomous Organizations. Published by: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Pollitt, C.

(2002) 'The New Public Management in International Perspective: An Analysis of Impacts and Effects' in K. McLaughlin, S. P. Osborne and E. Ferlie (eds) New Public Management: Current Trends and Future Prospects, pp 274 – 292. London: Routledge.

- Posner, R. A.
  - (1973). Theories of Economic Regulation. In *The Bell Journal of Economics and Management Science*, Vol. 5 (2), pp. 335-358.
- Poth, S., Selck, T.J.

(2009). Principal Agent Theory and Artificial Information Asymmetry. In *Politics*, Vol 29 (2), pp. 137-144.

Potter, M. R., Olejarski, A. M., Pfister, S. M.

(2014). Capture Theory and the Public Interest: Balancing Competing Values to Ensure Regulatory Effectiveness. In *International Journal of Public Administration*, Vol 37, pp. 638 - 645.

- Pratt, J.W., Zeckhauser, R. J.
  - (1985). Principals and Agents: An Overview. In Principals and Agents: The Structure of Business (Eds.). Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard Business School Press.
- Riley, G.J.

(1985). Competition with Hidden Knowledge. In *Journal of Political Economy*, Vol 93 (5), pp. 958-976.

## Ritleng, D.

(2016). Independence and Legitimacy in the Institutional System of the European Union. Published by: Oxford University Press.

### Rohlfing, I.

(2012). Case studies and causal inference: an integrative framework. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan. [Chapters 2, 3].

# Roness, P.G., Rubeckson, K., Verhoest, K., & MacCarthaigh, M.

(2007). Autonomy and regulation of State Agencies: Reinforcement, Indifference or Compensation? Retrieved June 18<sup>th</sup> 2016 from

http://soc.kuleuven.be/io/cost/act/pdf/20081014\_PhD%20Training%20School/Dag%202/3%20Autonomy%20and%20regulation%20ECPR%202007%20Roness.pdf

#### Ross S.

(1973). The Economic Theory of Agency: The Principal's Problem, In *American Economic Review*, Vol 63(2), pp. 134–139.

### Sappington, D.E.M.

(1991). Incentives in Principal-Agent Relationships. In the *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, Vol. 5 (2), pp. 45-66.

#### Scholten, M.

(2014). The political accountability of EU and US independent regulatory Agencies. Ph.D. Maastricht University. Imprint: Brill, Nijhoff.

### Smullen, A.

(2006). Lost in Translation? Shifting Interpretations of the Concept of "Agency": The Dutch Case', in C. Pollitt and C. Talbot (eds), Unbundled Government: A Critical Analysis of the Global Trend to Agencies, Quangos and Contractualisation. London: Routledge.

#### Stebbins, R. A.

(2001). Writing Up Exploratory Research. In: Exploratory Research in the Social Sciences. Published by: SAGE. Retrieved 20<sup>th</sup> July 2016 from http://methods.sagepub.com/book/exploratory-research-in-the-social-sciences/n4.xml

# Sundaramurthy, C., and Lewis, M.

(2003). Control and Collaboration: Paradoxes of Governance. In *Academy of Management Review*, Vol 28 (3), pp. 397–415.

#### Talbot, C.

(2004) Executive Agencies: Have They Improved Management in Government?, In *Public Money & Management*, Vol 24 (2), pp104–12.

#### Timmerman, P. Andoura, S.

(2008). Governance of the EU: The Reform Debate on European Agencies Reignited. Published by European Policy Institutes Network, Working Paper No. 19, pp. 1-29.

#### OECD.

(2002). Distributed public governance: Agencies authorities and other public bodies. Paris: OECD - synthesis report, pp. 6-52.

#### Overman, S., & Van Thiel, S.

(2015). Agencification and Public Sector Performance: A systematic comparison in 20 countries, In *Public Management Review*, Vol 18(4), pp. 611-635.

### Sajad, F., O'Loughlin, A., Zutshi, A.

(2012). Agency theory and supply chain management: a structured literature review, International *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, Vol. 17 (5) pp. 556 – 570.

#### Van Evera, S.

(1997). Guide to methods for students of political science. Ithaca: Cornell University Press. [Chapter 1].

#### Van Slyke, D. M.

(2006). Agents or Stewards: Using Theory to Understand the Government-Nonprofit Social Service Contracting Relationship. In *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, Vol 17, pp. 157-187.

#### Van Thiel, S.

(2015). The 'Empty Nest' Syndrome: Dutch Ministries after the Separation of Policy and Administration. [Chapter 3] *In* New Steering Concepts in Public Management. Retrieved on 14<sup>th</sup> February 2016 from <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/S0732-1317(2011)0000021007">http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/S0732-1317(2011)0000021007</a>

## Van Thiel, S., & James, O. (2011).

Structural Devolution to Agencies [Chapter 14]. In *The Ashgate Research Companion to New Public Management* [Eds. Christensen, T., & Laegrad, P.]. Published by: Ashgate Publishing Limited.

## Verhoest, K., Roness G.P., Verschuere, B., Rubecksen, K., MacCarthaigh, M.

(2010). Autonomy and Control of State Agencies. Comparing States and Agencies. Public Sector Organizations. Published by: Palgrave Macmillan.

#### Verhoest, K., Van Thiel, S., Bouckart, E., Laegreid, P.

(2012). Public Sector Organizations. Government Agencies. Practices and Lessons from 30 countries. Published by: Palgrave MacMillan.

#### Verschuere, B.

(2007) The Autonomy – Control Balance in Flemish Public Arm's Length Agencies, In *Public Management Review*, Vol 19 (1), pp. 107-133.

## Vestlund, M. N.

(2015). Between Centralization and Decentralization Decision behaviour in the EU's multilevel administrative system. Centre for European Studies. Arena Report No 4/15.

#### Worsham, J.

(2003). Multiple Principals, Multiple Signals: A Signaling Model of Principal-Agent Relations,

pp.1-13. Retrieved March 2<sup>nd</sup> from <a href="http://www.pmranet.org/conferences/georgetownpapers/Worsham.pdf">http://www.pmranet.org/conferences/georgetownpapers/Worsham.pdf</a>

## Waterman, W.R., & Meier, K.J.

(1998). Principal-Agent Models An Expansion? In *Journal of Public Administration and Research Theory*, Vol 2, pp. 173-202.

#### Zbíral, R.

(2009). Agencies of the EU: The Emerging Network of Supranational administrative bodies. In Contemporary Administrative Law Studies, Vol. 4 (1) pp. 171-192.

## Zonneveld, M.

(2016). The effects of Steering by Multiple Principals of National Agencies in EU Implementation: A Comparison between Policy Sectors. ECPR Standing Group/External Retrieved June 27<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="https://ecpr.eu/Events/PaperDetails.aspx?PaperID=26957&EventID=105">https://ecpr.eu/Events/PaperDetails.aspx?PaperID=26957&EventID=105</a>

#### Zonneveld, M.

(2015). Multiple principals in domestic implementation of EU directives by national agencies. Paper prepared for the 2015 International Conference on Public Policy Panel: T06P02 Innovative approaches to multi-level implementation research: Moving beyond legal compliance. Retrieved March 26<sup>th</sup> 2016 from <a href="http://www.icpublicpolicy.org/conference/file/reponse/1433972205.pdf">http://www.icpublicpolicy.org/conference/file/reponse/1433972205.pdf</a>

# Appendix A: List of Interviewed Persons (May - June 2016)

- 1. An assistant of a director of an agency
- 2. A former StC member of an agency
- 3. An employee of a DG involved in finance
- 4. An employee of a DG involved with EAs and who had contact to the StC
- 5. An employee of an agency who had contact to the StC and is involved in the coordination with the DGs
- 6. An employee of the DG RTD unit coordinating the delegation of programme implementation to EAs
- 7. An adviser of a DG
- 8. An employee of a DG related to finance and administration
- 9. An employee of a DG
- 10. An employee of DG Home
- 11. An employee of a DG related to policy frameworks
- 12. An employee of DG CNECT

# Appendix B: List of Names of People and Organizations That Forwarded Material

People/ Organization	Material
Kenneth J. Meier	Published version "Goal Displacement: Assessing the Motivation for Organizational Cheating"
DG EAC Unit R2	Commission Implementing Decision of 16.02.2015 on appointing members and observers of the Steering Committee of the EACEA C(2015) 758 final
DG EAC Unit R2	Commission Decision of 15.11.2006 appointing the members of the Steering Committee of the EACEA
DG EAC Unit R2	Commission Decision C(2011) 8711 final of 01.12.2011 on modifying Commission Decision C(2011) 1858 appointing members of the Steering Committee of the EACEA
DG EAC Unit R2	Commission Decision C(2011) 1858 final of 31.03.2011 appointing the members of the Steering Committee of the EACEA
DG EAC Unit R2	Commission Decision C(2014) 349 final of 29.01.2014 on appointing the members of the Steering Committee of the EACEA
DG EAC Unit R2	Memorandum of Understanding between EACEA and its parent DGs in the field of IT – Modalities and Procedures of Interaction, Ref. Ares(2015)3164485 - 28/07/2015 (MoU on IT)
DG EAC Unit R2	Memorandum of Understanding between EACEA and its parent DGs in the field of procurement – Modalities and Procedures of Interaction, Ref. Ares(2015) 3487593 - 24/08/2015 (MoU on procurement)
DG EAC Unit R2	Commission Decision C(2009) 3231 final of 05.05.2009 appointing members of the Steering Committee of the EACEA
DC EACH : D2	Specific Memorandum of Understanding between EACEA and its parent DGs in the field of information and communication, Ref. Ares(2016)1198754 - 09/03/2016 (MoU on information and
DG EAC Unit R2	communication) Commission Decision C(2010)4204 final of 25.06.2010 modifying
DG EAC Unit R2	Commission Decision C(2009) 3231 appointing members of the Steering Committee of the EACEA
Liliane de Wolf DG RTD	Commission Decision appointing the five members and two observers to the Steering Committee of the REA C(2008) XXXX final
Liliane de Wolf DG RTD	Commission Decision C(2010) XXX of appointing five members and three observers of the Steering Committee of the REA C(2008) 3345 of 8/VII/2008

Liliane de Wolf DG RTD	Commission Decision C(2014) 433 final of 31.01.2014 appointing five members and one observer of the Steering Committee of the REA repealing Decision C(2010)5194
THE 1 WE LEDGE DATE	
Liliane de Wolf DG RTD	Memorandum of Understanding between the REA and its parent DG's
Liliane de Wolf DG RTD	Commission Decision C(2015) 2347 final of 13.04.2015 appointing members and observers to the Steering Committee of the REA pursuant to Council Regulation (EC) No 58/2003
Europe Direct Contact Center	Commission Decision C(2014)9109 of 02/12/2014 establishing guidelines for the establishment and operation of executive agencies financed from the Union budget
EACEA	General Memorandum of Understanding between EACEA and its parent DGs - Modalities and procedures of Interaction, Ref. Ares(2015)1333575 - 26/03/2015 (General MoU)
DG RTD	CoA Report: Delegating Implementing Tasks to Executive Agencies: A successful option?

## Appendix C: Sample Questions In-depth Interview Agency

Topic: Managing the joint coordination of EU Executive Agencies by multiple DGs

**Body:** Executive Agency

- 1. How do you experience the supervision of the agency?
- 2. How do you experience the running of the agency through the DGs?
- 3. How is your relation with the different parent DGs?
- 4. Is the relation different with some DGs and if yes, in how far?
- 5. Do the different DGs have different approaches in dealing with the agency?
- 6. How do you experience the role of the leading parent DG?
- 7. How are decisions taken by the parent DGs in the Steering Committee in your experience?
- 8. What kind of coordination meetings are there and who are the involved actors?
- 9. How would you describe from the perspective of the agency the style of working together among the DGs?
- 10. How do the parent DGs supervise the agency?
- 11. What are areas DGs coordinate about together and with the agency?
- 12. Are you sending weekly reports regarding the work of the agency to the different DGs?
- 13. Can you say something about the involvement of each DG in the different programs?
- 14. What is it about the dominance of the lead parent DG?
- 15. What DGs are established for a long time and have better coordination with the agency?
- 16. Is the budget of a DG related to its importance/role with regard to the agency?
- 17. Is there a DG that has a global coordination role?
- 18. What are agency intrinsic coordination features different to other agencies?
- 19. In what ways does coordination change when the number of parent DGs increases? And what about the Steering Committee membership?
- 20. Are all parent DGs equal among each other?
- 21. What is the purpose of the CSC?
- 22. What is the difference between the administrative and operational side of the agency?
- 23. What are the different levels of coordination?

- 24. Do all DGs have mirror units in the agency?
- 25. Can you please clarify why some agencies have many different programs from different DGs and others don't? And how does this make the coordination different for some agencies?
- 26. Would you say that coordination is easier with DGs that are already longer established in their work with the agency?
- 27. What are the different elements of coordination?

## Appendix D: Sample Questions In-depth Interview DGs

Topic: Managing the joint coordination of EU Executive Agencies by multiple DGs

**Body:** DG

- 1. Your DG just joined the agency. However, I have read in the AAR that cooperation has been there before. Can you please elaborate on that?
- 2. What are the different roles of the DGs and the agency?
- 3. What is your explanation why your DG was not represented in the Steering Committee decisions in earlier years?
- 4. What are the implications regarding the lead parent DG for the other DGs?
- 5. Some DGs have a significantly lower budget. Why? How does this affect the relation with the different actors?
- 6. Depending on the size of the program, is coordination easier or more difficult with some DGs?
- 7. How do you prepare for meetings in the Steering Committee within your DG?
- 8. What are the different levels where coordination takes place?
- 9. Who are the different actors that are involved in the different levels of coordination?
- 10. Does every DG follow the same rules of coordination?
- 11. I read that the budget is determined by the Committee of Executive Agencies. What is the role of this body?
- 12. Would you agree that the Steering Committee is a consensus-driven governance model in which all parent DGs have an equal say?
- 13. Does the senior management team of your DG meet the director of the agency on a weekly basis?
- 14. Are there some key coordination events?
- 15. What are the DGs doing?
- 16. How is the coordination organized between the research DGs?
- 17. Do you have more examples what are common interests of the agency and the DGs?
- 18. What about informal meetings? I assume the director meets some DGs more often.

- 19. Why does the REA have a CSC but the EACEA not?
- 20. Do you have centralized units?
- 21. How are your units working together with the agency?
- 22. How do you steer the agency? How else in involved?
- 23. Why does your DG prefer the consensus model in the Steering Committee?
- 24. How would you describe/ How do you experience the role of the unit R4 of the DG RTD in n the management of relations with your agency?
- 25. Does the whole DG RTD has a coordination role or only this precise unit R4?
- 26. Does DG RTD coordinate the activities of all six parent DGs? And in how far is it different to the coordination in the StC?
- 27. Does only DG RTD deal with the sides of the agency? Or a special unit like R4 of DG RTD that deals with the agency
- 28. Apart from the StC, in which body do you have the most contact with the different DGs together?
- 29. Could you elaborate why the coordination between parent DGs is crucial for the functioning of the agencies?
- 30. What are the different coordination types?
- 31. Would you describe the dominance of the lead DG rather in terms of numbers or other terms?
- 32. It seems the Steering Committee is a formal body that signs decisions without much debate and takes decisions that have been pre-decided. What do you think about this?
- 33. Do all parent DGs of the REA belong to the research family?
- 34. How is the Steering Board composed?
- 35. Does your lead DG only meet the agency at coordination meetings or do also the other parent DGs join?
- 36. Can you please elaborate on the vertical and horizontal level of coordination?

## Appendix E: Sample Questions In-depth Interview Steering Committee

Topic: Managing the joint coordination of EU Executive Agencies by multiple DGs

**Body:** Steering Committee

- 1. How would you describe the role of the Steering Committee by your experience?
- 2. How do the executive agencies work with the Steering Committee?
- 3. Do you remember certain DGs that took a leading role in the coordination process?
- 4. In your words, how would you describe the relation between the director, the agency and the Steering Committee?
- 5. What do you know regarding the coordination among the different DGs and how do they steer the agency?
- 6. How are the DGs different from each other in the Steering Committee?
- 7. What are differences you can identify from what is written in the documents in comparison with how things work in reality?
- 8. Would you describe the leading DG rather as the main coordinator?
- 9. What is so special about the DG EAC?
- 10. How are the DGs working together? Who does what?
- 11. What are the different types of coordination?
- 12. What are the different things the DGs coordinate about and how do they do it?
- 13. Would you consider the coordination as a democratic process where all DGs give the same input or is it rather that one DG takes the lead, and the rest follows?
- 14. Why were you selected to the board and why were you appointed for one year and not as the regulation says for two years?
- 15. Who are the real decision-makers?
- 16. To who does the Steering Committee belong, the agency or the Commission?
- 17. Did you ever receive weekly or monthly reports of the agency during your term of office?
- 18. What are the different indicators to measure how coordination takes place?
- 19. Who are the relevant people that prepare decisions in advance?

- 20. What are your experiences related to internal administrative investigations in the agency by the OLAF and CoA?
- 21. How would you explain why the DG Budget appears in the appointing decisions of the Steering Committee in the EACEA?
- 22. How are decisions taken by the members of the StC?

## Appendix F. Questionnaire Form for the Parent DGs of the EACEA

Topic: Managing the joint coordination of EU Executive Agencies by multiple DGs

**Body:** DGs

- 1. How do you experience the coordination of the four parent DGs from the perspective of your DG?
- 2. How do the DGs coordinate among each other to steer the EACEA?
- 3. How does the cooperation between the DGs and the EACEA work?
- 4. In the REA there is a lead parent DG that has a global coordination role. In how far is this different in the EACEA? There is no Common Support Center or a global coordinator. How do you coordinate?
- 5. Does your DG as leading parent DG have a centralized unit (or a team in a central unit) that deals with the agency/ coordinates the agency? I noticed your DG is also parent DG for other agencies, so it would make sense to coordinate internally and have it more centralized.
- 6. What are the different approaches of each DG in working together?
- 7. How is the organization of coordination between the DGs and the agency?
- 8. Does the DGs attend meetings with the EACEA or different actors involved in the coordination of steering of the agency?
  - a) Who are the involved actors?
  - b) At what levels are these meeting (i.e. director level etc./ higher and lower levels)?
  - c) How often do these meetings take place at the different level?
- 9. How do all involved units (both agency and DGs) coordinate to prevent overlaps?
- 10. How often do you participate in DG-level management meetings? Who is present from the DGs and the agency?
- 11. How would you describe the unique features in coordinating EACEA in comparison to other EAs?

## Appendix G. Questionnaire Form for the Parent DGs of the REA

**Topic:** Managing the joint coordination of EU Executive Agencies by multiple DGs

**Body:** DGs

- 1. How do you experience the coordination of the different parent DGs from the perspective of your DG?
- 2. How do the DGs coordinate among each other to steer the REA?
- 3. How does the cooperation between the DGs and the REA work?
- 4. What are the different approaches of each DG in working together?
- 5. How is the organization of coordination between the DGs and the REA?
- 6. What kind of meetings with different DGs or actors involved in the coordination of steering of the agency do exist?
  - a) Who are the involved actors?
  - b) At what levels are these meeting (i.e. director level etc./ higher and lower levels)?
  - c) How often do these meetings take place at the different level?
- 7. How would you describe/ How do you experience the role of the unit R4 of the DG RTD in the coordination process?
- 8. Horizon2020 writes that performance indicators should be improved. How do the DGs coordinate that the REA will achieve the expectations put upon it?
- 9. How do all involved units (both agency and DGs) coordinate to prevent overlaps?
- 10. What is your experience regarding DG-level management meetings?
- 11. There are coordination meetings that are chaired by DG RTD Unit R.4. with all four executive agencies. What is your experience on this regarding coordination?